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Chairman’s Statement

ETRHRE

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, JP, Chairman
ARt oBs kvat EB

RESULTS

On behalf of the board of directors, I would like to announce
that the Group’s turnover was HK$559,501,000 (2009:
HK$628,149,000) for the year ended 31 March 2010. The
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was
HK$44,275,000 (2009: HK$15,916,000) while earnings per
share was HK17.06 cents (2009: HK6.13 cents).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors has recommended the payment of a
final dividend of HK3.0 cents per ordinary share (2009: HK3.0
cents) with respect to the financial year ended 31 March 2010.
Subject to the shareholders’ approval at the annual general
meeting to be held on 2 September 2010, the final dividend
will be payable on 22 September 2010. Together with the
interim dividend of HK1.0 cent per share, the total dividend
distribution for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 will be
HK4.0 cents per share (2009: HK4.0 cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, benefiting from the Group’s
long history in the meat trading market, sound financial
position, extensive and comprehensive distribution network,
close relationship with suppliers, coupled with relatively stable
selling prices of frozen meat, prudent purchasing management,
stringent cost control and the extensive experience in frozen
meat trading, the gross profits of frozen meat trading increased
over the previous year.
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Apart from frozen meat trading business, the Group has
strategically held equity interests in an associate, Four Seas
Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”), as a long-term
investment, which enables the Group to have a diversified
business portfolio and enjoy the share of profit from FSMHL.
For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group shared a profit
after tax of HK$24,989,000 (2009: HK$29,930,000).

Frozen Meat Trading

Frozen meat trading is the Group’s core business and the
products are well received by customers. It has established
a long-standing reputation in the frozen meat market with
solid foundation. During the year, the Group’s frozen meat
trading maintained stable business growth. Driven by effective
management operation, the Group has enhanced its competitive
edge and maintained market dominance. It carried through
prudent purchasing strategy by making adjustments to product
mix and quantities, and implemented stringent inventory
management which in turn effectively controlling the cost.
Meanwhile, through the Group’s flexible sales and pricing
strategy, it earned a higher return and therefore increased
profit.

Investment in Food Business

FSMHL is one of the distinct and largest food enterprises
in Hong Kong and has a leading position in the food
industry, with business segments of food distribution, food
manufacturing, “Four Seas” brand products development,
catering and food retailing. Through equity investment in
FSMHL, the Group is able to share FSMHL’s profits so as
to stabilise the Group’s earnings. As at 31 March 2010, the
Group’s equity interest in FSMHL increased to approximately
29.49%.

Food Distribution

The core business of FSMHL is food distribution which is
moving towards its 39th anniversary of establishment. FSMHL
has commanded a dominant position in the food industry
through its extensive distribution network, on-going brand
name developments as well as reliable corporate strengths and
renowned reputation. “Calbee”, one of the brands distributed by
FSMHL, was awarded “2009 7-Eleven Top Brands Campaign
Award”, “Yahoo! Emotive Brand Award 2009-2010” by one
of the world-largest internet search engines, Yahoo Hong
Kong, and “The 10th Favourite Brands Award” by Wellcome
Supermarket, in recognition of FSMHL’s outstanding sales
and distribution management. During the year, FSMHL was
once again accredited with “Prime Awards for Corporate
Social Responsibility” and “Caring Company Award” for eight
consecutive years, recognising its commitment to community
services and corporate social responsibility.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETRHRE

Frozen Meat Products

W B i Z 5

Food Manufacturing

With 20 manufacturing plants in both Mainland China and
Hong Kong, FSMHL is able to produce a wide range of
specialty food products, including seaweed, candies, snacks
and confectioneries, peanuts, potato chips, instant noodles,
ice-cream, biscuits, cake, chestnuts, ham, sausages, frozen
dim sums, and beverages. Four Seas (Suzhou) Food Co., Ltd,
a manufactory plant of FSMHL located in Suzhou, Mainland
China, is committed to exploring the beverage market by
developing a series of refreshment drinks and fruit juices
including Tsubu Tsubu orange drinks, coffee, milk tea, lemon
tea, green tea, Oolong tea, which has enhanced FSMHL’s
competitiveness and became another growth driver in the
beverage market.
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Four Seas Brand

“Four Seas” brand, a proprietary premium brand name
developed by FSMHL, is well received by loyal consumers
evidenced by increasing market shares over the years.
Leveraging on preemptive marketing strategies, effective
promotional campaigns and distinctive product positioning
strategy, “Four Seas” brand has been highly recognised and
accredited with various awards including “Non-Stop Eating
Snack of Smart Living 2008 voted by “Three Weekly”, “The
Hong Kong’s 100 Most Influential Brands 2008” awarded
by the World Brand Laboratory, and the “Best Loved Local
Brand in Daily Life” by the joint-survey of Hong Kong Design
Centre and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. During
the year, “Four Seas Tsubu Tsubu Orange Drinks” carried off
“The Rising Star Award” from Wellcome Supermarket. The
TV commercials of “Four Seas Tsubu Tsubu Orange Drinks”
with celebrity endorsement by a popular star Mr. Richie Yam
has proved to be a successful promotional campaign with
noteworthy sales and received overwhelming response from
consumers which ascertained the increasing popularity of “Four
Seas” brand.
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Catering Business

During the year, the performance of FSMHL’s restaurants was
satisfactory. The longstanding renowned ‘“Panxi Restaurant”,
one of the largest garden-style restaurants located in Mainland
China, was voted as “The Best Loved Restaurant” in the
Southern Guangdong Style Category of “Guangdong Food
Carnival 2009” from Sina.com. In Hong Kong, “Kung Tak Lam
Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine” has opened another new outlet
in New Town Plaza in Shatin to meet the customers’ demand
for healthy vegetarian food. In addition, “Kung Tak Lam”
was bestowed with the “Gold with Distinction Award” in the
Vegetarian Category of “The Best of the Best Culinary Awards
2009” from Chinese Cuisine Training Institute for its award-
winning dish of “Braised Vegetarian Meatball in Casserole”.
“Kung Tak Lam” Causeway Bay branch was also highly
recommended by “Michelin Guide Hong Kong Macau 2010”.
Furthermore, “Restaurant Shiki Limited”, “Osaka Ohsho”
Japanese dumplings specialty restaurant, and “Shousihuang”
sushi restaurant chain in Mainland China, all achieved
satisfactory business performance.

Food Retailing

FSMHL'’s retail chain “Okashi Land” delivered an encouraging
performance and has become a prestige retail brand for trendy
snack foods in the market. Being a renowned retail brand
name, “Okashi Land” is highly recognised among consumers
and received numerous accreditations, including “U! Choice
University Students’ Most Favourite Brand” awarded by
Metro Broadcast Corporation Limited, “The 6th Hong Kong &
Macau Merchants of Integrity Award” by “Guangzhou Daily”,
and accredited as “QTS-Merchant” of the “Quality Tourism
Services Scheme” by the Hong Kong Tourism Board.

Shiki Japanese Restaurant
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Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine

s L E R

PROSPECTS

The Group has established a solid foundation and outstanding
reputation in the frozen meat trading market. It also possesses
a wealth of trading experience, extensive distribution network
and close relationship with customers. With its well established
market position, prudent purchasing management and flexible
sales strategy, the frozen meat trading keeps on developing
stably. Besides, the long-term investment in FSMHL will
continue to contribute earnings to the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the board of directors, I would like to express
my sincere gratitude to our shareholders and our business
partners for their support and trust to the management team.
My gratitude also extends to our staff for their loyalty and
diligence in the developments of the business of the Group.

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, Jp
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 July 2010
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Report of the Directors
EEE2RE

The directors present their report and the audited financial FHEGHEREETFRFGREURARAG EAE

statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended & _F—-FE=ZH=Z+—HILEEZR
31 March 2010. A S B

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES X3 ¥

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. ARAR 2 BEEB LRGN - W8 A F K
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries Wi 24 W) 2 A SEHRE G 4 R R B R i
and associates are set out in notes 16 and 17 to the financial B RE16 5017 o A 4R M 2 32 B3 R AR
statements, respectively. There were no significant changes in MR o

the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS X5 R B

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 and the AKEHBE F-FF=H=1+—HILEE
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date 2 dii B B A2 ) B B T % H 2 B BUIR B
are set out in the financial statements on pages 42 to 128. WINPN B EEZRI28H Z M B AN -

An interim dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary share was RKAFGHR _F—FFE—H _+HIREDH
paid by the Company on 20 January 2010. The directors JBe B 5 8 B 10U Il o 3 S AR R 4R
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK3.0 JEE R B R 0] M BB R 3.0% Al T S &

cents per ordinary share in respect of the reporting year to ENH _HAYBREL M Z R o HhIE 8 5%
shareholders on the register of members on 2 September 2010. C7E B B R M B e R ) A RE s JH H
This recommendation has been incorporated in the financial R B R A A 4 I o

statements as an allocation of retained profits within the equity

section of the statement of financial position.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL W0 5 R B
INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and the assets and AREEE L MM BEECAMMFZEHRE
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as A A G R A A B B S R il
extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out W AE T J5 5 H s

below:

Year ended 31 March
BREZH=Z1—HIEAE
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
SRR ZEFE ZFRFRNE ZRFLE ZREAE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
W T HWT T Vi o T Vil o T B F oL

RESULTS X5
REVENUE LN 559,501 628,149 530,471 484,269 537,547
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A B Vi K] 44,275 15,916 35,021 34,802 17,400
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL
INFORMATION (continued)

2010
L
HK$’000
T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES %7 K& fi 1

R
BER

TOTAL ASSETS
TOTAL LIABILITIES

605,827
(124,596)

481,231

The information set out above does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in either the Company’s authorised
or issued share capital during the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
of the Group during the year are set out in note 31(b) to the
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2010, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions
of Section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
amounted to HK$73,796,000, of which HK$7,788,000 has been
proposed as a final dividend for the year.

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings at the end of the
reporting period are set out in note 27 to the financial
statements.

Report of the Directors
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As at 31 March
R=H=+—H
2009 2008 2007 2006
ZERRFE ZEFRN\E ZFFLE ZFFEAH
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT b 3 an BT BT
583,344 571,308 479,661 468,582
(134,664) (135,717) (74,461) (92,403)
448,680 435,591 405,200 376,179
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

Takeshi NOMAGUCHI (Managing Director)
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis

TAI Chun Leung

YIP Wai Keung

TSE Siu Wan

LAI Yuk Chuen

Independent non-executive directors:

CHAN Kay Cheung
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John
LUI Shing Ming, Brian

In accordance with article 105(A) of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis, Mr. Tai Chun
Leung, Mr. Yip Wai Keung and Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian
will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Lan Yee
Fong, Steve John and Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and still considers them to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s
board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group, and the remuneration committee of the Group.
Details of remuneration of the directors are set out in note
8 to the financial statements. Particulars of the duties and
responsibilities of the remuneration committee are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Personal

interests

(held as

beneficial

Name of director owner)
A H

HR AW (H i)
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen Wy 6,730,000
TAI Chun Leung W R -
YIP Wai Keung E 2L 736,360
CHAN Kay Cheung BRALE 800,000
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John B 38 Jj 800,000

Report of the Directors
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I M B R SB35k T ME H TR EZ B
AC 1M P s Bk AR 8 i A R BRE S0P i 2 |
AT N FE F AT S A 5 i A A R (TR
#e oy JI 1) ZE g A oy T R RS BT 0 AR T A%
B R B AT BN HOR AR A TR KA g s
(& 8 5 Gl 77 B B ) SEXVAER ) JBe Ay B A
I Mt 2 B i S R RSN T

AR 2 ) 3 R By 2 R
Number of shares held
P 4§ 1By 2 % H
Corporate
interests Total interests
(interests of Trust and as % of the
controlled similar Total relevant issued
corporation) interests interests  share capital
A AR B 2 B A
(Bl Aw fESCRKER L IRy £
Z ) % WasE  BRAEAKR
53,095,1779 30,914,000 90,739,177 34.96%
- 30,914,000 30,914,000 11.91%
- - 736,360 0.28%
- - 800,000 0.31%
- - 800,000 0.31%
mHBERREERAERATD » —FT - FFFRK
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Report of the Directors
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company
(continued)

Notes:

(i) Out of the 53,095,177 shares, 187,927 shares, representing 0.072% of the
Company’s issued share capital, are beneficially owned by Four Seas Mercantile
Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”). Special Access Limited (“SAL”) and Careful Guide
Limited (“CGL”) in aggregate hold more than one-third of the issued share capital
of FSMHL. SAL is wholly owned by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse,
Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly; whereas CGL is owned by a discretionary trust, the Tai
Family Trust, the eligible beneficiaries of which include members of the family of
Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly,
Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed
to have interests in those 187,927 shares of the Company’s issued share capital
held by FSMHL. The remaining 52,907,250 shares, representing 20.38% of the
Company’s issued share capital, are owned by SAL, and Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen

and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are therefore deemed to have interests

therein.

(i) The 30,914,000 shares, representing 11.91% of the Company’s issued share capital,
are owned by CGL, whose shares are owned by a discretionary trust, the Tai Family
Trust, the eligible beneficiaries of which include members of the family of Dr.
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Thus, Dr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to have

interests therein.

(iii)  Such interests in the shares are held by CGL, a company controlled by the Tai
Family Trust under which Mr. Tai Chun Leung is a discretionary beneficiary. As a

director of the Company, Mr. Tai Chun Leung is taken to have a duty of disclosure

in relation to such shares under the SFO.

FOUR SEAS FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2010

BN
RS
RERE
\SRE
S5
SE
DER
-~
S
2%
=
=
&
N

T A 2 ) % B B A 2 e AT ()

(i) Ub%53,095, 1778 B b > Hob187,927 B B dn - A A AF B
BEAT IR A 2.0.072% » 775 i VY P48 J A5 B2 w1 (TP 9 45 )
TEREBEA o T VY4 DB = 4 2 — Z T84T AR i Special
Access Limited ([ SALJ) B Careful Guide Limited ([ CGLJ) §
f oo SALTI BB W L R K T WA L 2B A
CGLAIH — 2 MR- MR EBATR (HEBEHZHAC
FRE W L R FE AN L2 KK B) TR -
PRI » o 8 M T S8 0 O A i B % A o U M
S TR AR A W T AT REA187,927 B Z HERE o T H AR Z
52,907,250/% B 43 > A A 2 W] B B AT B AR 220.38% > T3
SALFFA » PRtk » HH8 W+ e 3L 32 1 X W A i
o BEAT LR Z W2 o

(i) BE30,914,000/8 B4R » A AA R CBATRAZ11.91% 5 T3
H— 2R R — MIRKRMGEE GL A B 23 A 2175 RE
W R L FE WA 2 KRR BT ZCGLER
oo L > S R R 3R T WIS N L B R B
ey 2 25 o

(i) 25 M Ml 2 Y R G R AR RE T B X CGLIG A > AR it
Z T RE 325 N LA RO RS o AR AR Gl O T R L)
WO RS 2 B T A A W A > R R A O S I A
e 25



Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

.
B
»

Z

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in ordinary shares of an associated
corporation
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Directors’ interests in the equity of FSMHL are as follows:

Number of shares held

sk ey 2 H

Personal Corporate
interests interests Total interests
(held as (interests of Trust and as % of the
beneficial controlled similar Total relevant issued
Name of director owner)  corporation) interests interests  share capital
2 i) B HE 4 A
A (BEWAT e RBB AT HE
HHHMH (H k) ZHidi) Hide WasE BRAEAKR
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen sy — 196,478,0000  82,000,000% 278,478,000 71.27%
TAI Chun Leung iR - - 82,000,000 82,000,000 20.99%
YIP Wai Keung B faE R 680,000 - - 680,000 0.17%

Notes: M iE

(i)  Of which, 81,250,000 shares, representing approximately 20.79% of the issued (i) PR 281,250,000/ B > Ak 1Y U 4R B BEAT R AR

(ii)

(i)

share capital of FSMHL, are owned by SAL, which in turn is wholly owned by
Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Another
115,228,000 shares, representing 29.49% of the issued share capital of FSMHL,
are owned by Capital Season Investments Limited, a company wholly owned by
Advance Finance Investments Limited (“AFIL”). Since AFIL is wholly owned by
the Company, which in turn Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, SAL, CGL and FSMHL in
aggregate hold more than one-third of the issued share capital of the Company, and
therefore, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are
deemed to have interests in the 115,228,000 shares of FSMHL.

The shares, which represent 20.99% of the issued share capital of FSMHL, are
owned by CGL, whose shares are owned by a discretionary trust, the Tai Family
Trust, the eligible beneficiaries of which include members of the family of Dr.
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Thus, Dr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to have

interests therein.

Such interests in the shares are held by CGL, a company controlled by the Tai

Family Trust under which Mr. Tai Chun Leung is a discretionary beneficiary.

K#20.79% » T AW L R FT LA L 2 E B
B ZSALFF A o 115,228,000/ B4 - A 14 o 4% 1 © 5%
AT A 229.49% > Bl FH Advance Finance Investments Limited
([AFIL ) % ¥ W} J& 22 W] Capital Season Investments Limited
B ¥ A o BURAFILI AR AW 2 BB » WA A A3E=
G 2 — Z BB AT BEAR 43 i ol B M R L - SAL -~ CGLA Y
WA R - RS ES L R TR LR R
BEAT I 4 14 115,228,000 SR 4 2 B2 o

(i) BEAEE Ay o AN 7Y Y4 B AT AR 220.99% o T3 — A B
HRE- MR EEAE LA B2 A BRI+ R
HFETHRAN L2 K H) i ZCGLIFH - Bk »
S M e T W S T WA R A DL Ry 2
5 o

(i) %55 My B 25 o IR TR AR WE T BT X CGLFR AT > % i
Z il S g N AL O Rk

nHERRrREERARAR -2 -—25% 15
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Report of the Directors
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in ordinary shares of an associated
corporation (continued)

All the interests stated above represent long positions in the
shares of the Company. Save as disclosed above, as at 31
March 2010, none of the directors and chief executive nor
any of their associates had any interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations required to be disclosed pursuant to the
SFO.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, none of the directors
and chief executive of the Company nor any of their respective
spouses or minor children was granted or held options to
subscribe for shares in the Company (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), or had exercised such rights.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any director or their respective spouses
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ Bt .Y
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT Py 2 Hi
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY

The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept 4GB 5 I8 D) SEX VR S336M% Z #i
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that, as at EREZFEBRREGCMER R —F
31 March 2010, the following parties, other than the directors FEZHA=Z+—H BLEXHPEEZARAFE
and chief executive of the Company as disclosed above, had HEREBITBRANBN s U FTALCMEGARA
notified the Company of the following substantial shareholders’ A R HIAG AR A B AT AR MBS %k DL b2
interests or short positions, being 5% or more of the total FERRERIIRA ¢

issued share capital of the Company:

Number of shares held
Fike B fy 2 Y H
Direct/ Family
personal interests Corporate
interests (interests of interests Total interests
(held as spouse or (interests of Trust and as % of the
beneficial minor controlled similar Total ~relevant issued
Name of substantial shareholder owner) children)  corporation) interests interests  share capital
% o i
Hik/ (g Rl fi A A
DN & A A (P A5 itk HMC#IT

FERRAR (ERHH)  ThZHER) ZHE%) RUOLHE 4 Wl RAWAR

SAL SAL 52,907,2500 - - - 52,907,250 20.38%

CGL CGL - - - 30,914,000 30,914,000 11.91%

WU Mei Yung, Quinly LESN - 6,730,000 53,095,1776 30,914,000 90,739,177 34.96%

HSBC International HSBC International

Trustee Limited Trustee Limited - - - 30,914,000 30,914,000 11.91%

Notes: i

(i) SAL is wholly owned by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei [6)) SAL bl - R HETFWEAM L 2EHAZ AT
Yung, Quinly. This interest is also included as a corporate interest of Dr. Tai WHSCEERTESERE ST B RA A A 54 0 F
Tak Fung, Stephen in the above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s Tt v 0 e 0 S A B I Ay 2 i 2 S sk R A ] 4y B b T Bk R
interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company AHmEw L 2 A AR o
or any associated corporation”.

(ii)  The shares, which represent 2.59% of the issued share capital of the Company, are (i) BEZBAy > A ARA T BT RA Z2.59% > Hh W
beneficially held by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. Therefore, his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei WHA o Hk s HETWEAM Lo AW R0
Yung, Quinly, is deemed to have an interest therein. This interest is also included WS o MR CAERIEELREEITBANBRAAF K
as a personal interest of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen in the above section headed AT oy FE T 3 0 e oy B M B IRE Ay 2 M s K sk A ] 4y B
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions in the shares and T e % A P R Wl e 2 R ARE RS o

underlying shares of the Company or any associated corporation”.

mHERREERERAA - 2 -2 F FRK
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Report of the Directors
EEEHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Out of the 53,095,177 shares, 187,927 shares, representing 0.072% of the
Company’s issued share capital, are beneficially owned by FSMHL. SAL and CGL
in aggregate hold more than one-third of the issued share capital of FSMHL. SAL
is wholly owned by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung,
Quinly; whereas CGL is owned by a discretionary trust, the Tai Family Trust, the
eligible beneficiaries of which include members of the family of Dr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Dr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to have interests in
those 187,927 shares of the Company’s issued share capital held by FSMHL. The
remaining 52,907,250 shares, representing 20.38% of the Company’s issued share
capital, are owned by SAL, and Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu
Mei Yung, Quinly, are therefore deemed to have interests therein. This interest is
also included as a corporate interest of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen in the above
section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions in

the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated corporation”.

CGL is owned by a discretionary trust, the Tai Family Trust, the eligible
beneficiaries of which include members of the family of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
and Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. This interest is also included as a trust and similar
interest of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen in the above section headed “Directors’ and
chief executive’s interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying shares

of the Company or any associated corporation”.

HSBC International Trustee Limited is the trustee of the discretionary trust, the Tai

Family Trust, referred to in Note (iv) above.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors
of the Company, as at 31 March 2010, no person (other than
the directors and chief executive of the Company, whose
interests are set out in the above section headed “Directors’
and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation”) had registered an interest and/or short position in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company did not have any outstanding option at the
beginning and at the end of the year. During the year, no
options have been granted under the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 2 September 2002. Details of
the share option scheme are set out in note 30 to the financial
statements.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, JP, PhD (honoris causa),
aged 62, has been an executive director of the Company since
May 1997. Dr. Tai is the chairman of the Group, responsible
for corporate and policy planning. He holds the Visiting
Professor of South China Normal University and South China
Agricultural University, member of the Board of Trustees
of Jinan University, Honorary Doctorate of Philosophy of
Morrison University in the United States and Doctor of
Philosophy in Business Administration (honoris causa) of
the Southern California University for Professional Studies
in the United States. He is a Standing Committee Member
of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and a Standing Committee Member
of the Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Dr. Tai holds
several public positions, including the president of the Hong
Kong Foodstuffs Association, the president of the Hong Kong
Japan Confectionery, Biscuit & Foodstuffs Association, the
chairman of the Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign
Investors, the consultant of the China National Food Industry
Association, Economic Adviser of Jilin City, a member of the
Greater Pearl River Delta Business Council of the HKSAR,
and a member of the Commission on Strategic Development of
the HKSAR. He received a number of awards and accolades,
including the World Outstanding Chinese Award, the 30th
Food Industry Distinguished Service Award, the Award of the
Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries of Japan for
the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the Outstanding
Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry, the
China Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished
Management Entrepreneur, the Top 10 Outstanding People
of Asia Management Innovation Award, the Top 10 Famous
People of China Innovative Branding Award, the Social
Responsibility Contribution Award, “Honourable Citizen
of Shantou City”, “Honourable Citizen of Guangzhou City”
and “Honourable Citizen of Jilin City” in Mainland China.
He is also the founder and chairman of Four Seas Mercantile
Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”), an associated corporation of the
Company and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. He is also a director of Careful Guide
Limited and Special Access Limited, substantial shareholders
of the Company.

FOUR SEAS FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2010

o R S BEN B R R g

PuAT A

WY 02K - B ULEHE T AR
ERARAFRITES - WL A AREEZ E
B AR AERBORKE - R EREES
PN Y NS e N 3 TN ]
BERBREHZ B RKEKRE S B E
PN 2 S8 3R RPN D PPN 3 3
BLTVHEMMEL - AN RBUA T H &2
B % B8 %R E K\ RBOA Rk
BEREZBEEHHERBN B S LG
AW BREBFBRMET TR B HBRY
HEMERENTER FWERIIEAT
R~ b R S b e R - 35 R T AR
B~ FWARATB I KRR =AHBEEZET
ZERPRBORHREBREZEGRE - K
XV B 2 TR A > A A A N B
HAS=TEamEE % - HARBTR
AROK B R B A~ o [ £ T 6 A B R AE -
TEEMEEEGEFEIRAER  HNE
AR+ R A A 88 - A 3 3 A0k B
Jf s R N A A 3 A R AE
e I 1l B A B R~ BN T AE R
PR R o ST L IR R A DY U 4R A
MRoaw (THHMEE]) 2818 Ak ER > &%
VARSI P NN P = /N IR TN Y
Bt £ Ll o I8 s Careful Guide Limited %
Special Access LimitedZ % 5% > M [ 2 w3y
RARNT Z FEBIR -



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Takeshi NOMAGUCHI, aged 62, has been an executive
director of the Company since June 1997. Mr. Nomaguchi
is the managing director of the Group, responsible for the
overall management planning and control. Mr. Nomaguchi is
a graduate of Kyushu University in Japan. Prior to joining the
Group, he worked for Mitsubishi Corporation, Japan for 26
years where he gained extensive experience in the trading of
meat and livestock. Mr. Nomaguchi joined the Group in 1997.

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 54, has been an
executive director of the Company since July 1995. Mr. Man
is the deputy managing director of the Group, responsible for
corporate finance, accounting, information technology, project
investments and general administration of the Group. Mr.
Man has a Master of Commerce degree from the University
of New South Wales in Australia. He is also a member of the
CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has gained extensive experience in finance
and accounting from overseas multinational corporations. Mr.
Man joined the Group in 1992. He is also a director of FSMHL.

Mr. TAI Chun Leung, aged 36, has been an executive
director of the Company since February 2004. Mr. Tai is
the assistant managing director of the Group, responsible
for information technology, business development and
assisting the managing director with the daily operation of the
Group. He received his Bachelor of Commerce degree from
Macquarie University in Australia and a Master of Business
Administration degree from the Southern California University
for Professional Studies in the United States. He has worked
for an international accounting firm and joined the Group in
1998. Mr. Tai possesses various experience in information
technology, finance, sales, marketing, merchandising and food
manufacturing. He is a son of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the
chairman and an executive director of the Company.

Mr. YIP Wai Keung, aged 60, has been an executive director
of the Company since May 1997. Mr. Yip is responsible for the
business development of the Group. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Yip was responsible for marketing and promotion activities
in a Japanese food company in Hong Kong. He has more than
30 years’ experience in sales and marketing. Mr. Yip joined the
Group in 1997. He is also a director of FSMHL.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 49, has been an executive director of
the Company since August 1992. Mr. Tse is responsible for the
food quality control of the Group. He has extensive experience
in food manufacturing and factory production management.
Mr. Tse joined the Group in 1980. He is also a director and
the general manager of Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of FSMHL.

Mr. LAI Yuk Chuen, aged 55, has been an executive director
of the Company since July 1995. Mr. Lai is responsible for the
strategic sales and marketing of the Group. He has extensive
experience in trading and marketing. Mr. Lai joined the Group
in 1984.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Kay Cheung, aged 63, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since October 1995. He
is currently a senior adviser of The Bank of East Asia, Limited
and the vice chairman of The Bank of East Asia (China)
Limited. He possesses extensive knowledge and experience
in the banking industry. Mr. Chan is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Bankers and an international senior
economic consultant of The People’s Government of Shaanxi
Province. He is also an independent non-executive director of
China Electronics Corporation Holdings Company Limited,
Chu Kong Shipping Development Company Limited and Shui
On Construction and Materials Limited, companies whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. LAN Yee Fong, Steve John, aged 69, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since
January 1998. He was the chairman of Evergreen Consultants
Limited, president of Inswire Insurance Limited and chairman
of Zurich Financial Services Group, Hong Kong. Mr. Lan is
a vice chairman of The Hong Kong Tuberculosis, Chest and
Heart Diseases Association. He is also working on the Hospital
Governing Committees of Ruttonjee Hospital, Tang Shiu Kin
Hospital and Grantham Hospital in Hong Kong. Mr. Lan is
the chairman of the management committee of Freni Care and
Attention Home. He is a graduate of The University of Hong
Kong and a fellow of The Chartered Insurance Institute. Mr.
Lan has extensive experience in the insurance industry with
intensive involvement in corporate development.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. LUI Shing Ming, Brian, aged 50, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since September 2004.
Mr. Lui is currently the chairman of Cheong Ming Investments
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lui holds a Master Degree in Commerce from
the University of New South Wales, Australia. He is a fellow
member of both the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

Senior Management

Mr. LEUNG Tin Chi, aged 46, is the financial controller and
company secretary, responsible for finance, accounting and
company secretarial affairs. Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor of
Business degree from Swinburne University of Technology
in Australia. He is also a member of the CPA Australia and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Leung has extensive accounting experience. He joined the
Group in 1994.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
sales for the year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 93% of the total purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to 89%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows and facilities granted by its principal
bankers. As at 31 March 2010, the Group had banking facilities
of HK$461,700,000 of which 12% had been utilised. The
Group had a gearing ratio of 12% as at 31 March 2010. This is
expressed as the total bank borrowings to equity attributable to
equity holders of the Company. Bank borrowings of the Group,
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, are mainly trust receipt
loans (the “Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings”) at prevailing
market interest rates. The Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings
which are classified as current liabilities are repayable within
one year. As at 31 March 2010, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents of HK$68,085,000. There were no significant
changes in the Group’s contingent liabilities and no charges on
the Group’s assets during the year under review.

STAFF EMPLOYMENT

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March
2010 was 59. Remuneration packages are generally structured
by reference to market terms and individual qualifications.
Salaries and wages are normally reviewed annually based on
performance appraisals and other relevant factors. The Group
operates a mandatory provident fund scheme which covers all
the employees of the Group.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE
OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual
report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the
purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls. The
audit committee comprises the independent non-executive
directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and work of the audit committee is set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment
as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, Jp
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 July 2010
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Corporate Governance Report
TREBRS

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased
to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2010.

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below
Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company and management are committed to maintain
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles
of transparency, accountability and independence to all
shareholders. The Company believes that good corporate
governance is an essence for a continual growth and
enhancement of shareholders’ value. Throughout the year
under review, the Company has applied the principles of
and complied with most of the code provisions of the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules with the exception
of code provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2 of the CG Code which
are explained below. The Company periodically reviews its
corporate governance practices with reference to the latest
development of corporate governance.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the
Company are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Responsibilities

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework
of prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be
assessed and managed; delegate authorities to the management
to manage and supervise the business of the Group; and ensure
the management monitor performance against objectives being
set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for
the division of responsibilities between the Board and
management. Certain responsibilities or functions have been
delegated by the Board to the management which include
the day-to-day business operation of the Group, execution of
corporate strategies, business and financial plans and budgets
approved by the Board and preparation of annual and interim
financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decisions
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant
changes in accounting or capital structure; approval of public
announcements and the financial statements; approval of major
acquisitions, disposals and major capital projects; approval of
material borrowings and any issuing or buying back of equity
securities; approval of the annual budget and setting of the
dividend policy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) HHE(H)

Board Composition HREFHS
The Board of the Company comprises ten directors consisting AKATRZzERTH TR EFMAR > HPh L4
of seven executive directors and three independent non- BPATESR s S4B IEPATESE -

executive directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the HEGNEFZEGI MBI BN TR :

Board and Board’s Committees:

Board of Directors

fi
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
WY ()
Takeshi NOMAGUCHI (Managing Director)
W i O (FH AR
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis
SO A
TAI Chun Leung
W R
YIP Wai Keung
R
TSE Siu Wan
o E
LAI Yuk Chuen
RER
oy sy 1
BIHL o b
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John* E E Rk E E
3% g I‘,EUNG Tin Chi
LUI Shing Ming, Brian* i_i_%‘%??_a%__________________i_‘i
o I =
E E Audit Committee E E E E Remuneration Committee E E
L RBRHE . L WMERA L
\ + CHAN Kay Cheung* (Chairman) . 1+ TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) -
Y€y ) . DR () L
1+ LAN Yee Fong, Steve John* . i+ MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis -
RN B ok N
' ' LUI Shing Ming, Brian* v .+ CHAN Kay Cheung* -
BELLY B B N
vl vl . 1+ LAN Yee Fong, Steve John* -
B B e L
. . i+ LUI Shing Ming, Brian* Lo
1 L e .
* independent non-executive director o IEHATE G

mHESRELERERAR « B —S558% 27



28

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company from time to
time pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The relationship among some members of the Board are
disclosed under “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management”
in this Annual Report.

Board Meeting
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well
as other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the

year ended 31 March 2010 and the attendance record of each
director is set out below:

Name of directors

WHHM
Executive directors A7 #H FF
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen W ()

(Chairman)
Takeshi NOMAGUCHI
(Managing Director)

Y R (F HFAAEE)

wP (H)
WP LA ()

R AR (R SR A AR R
T AR B B4 R A2 A IRE T AT 8 Y T A i 3 0 AR
o

AR B A B AR R A R R
A BN B R A ] b R e

E& S g f
B ik K 3 F MR

AR E PR I T AR A
Z B RN~ B K I O B MR R N e &
HFEIRE UL AT RS

JE A DAY 7 » 5 00 2 B T

Number of Number of Average

Board meetings attendance attendance rate

HEe FI

TRA Y IR IR S

4 4 100%

4 4 100%

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SCIKHE 4 4 100%

TAI Chun Leung R 4 4 100%

YIP Wai Keung BE {5t 08 4 4 100%

TSE Siu Wan i A E 4 4 100%

LAI Yuk Chuen BEH 4 4 100%
Independent non-executive B I B AT

directors

CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 4 4 100%

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John BEY 4 4 100%

LUI Shing Ming, Brian Gt ] 4 4 100%
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors
at least 14 days before the meetings while reasonable notice
is generally given for other Board meetings. For committee
meetings, notices are served in accordance with the required
notice period stated in the relevant terms of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are sent to all directors or committee
members at least 3 days before each Board meeting and each
committee meeting to keep the directors or committee members
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of
the Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.
All directors are encouraged to take independent professional
advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the performance of
their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board and
each director have separate and independent access to the
senior management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time
frame after each meeting and the final version is open for
directors’ inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered material by the Board,
the matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable
rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent Board
committee will be set up to deal with the matter.

Directors’ Independence and Relationship

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one of them possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or financial
management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1) and
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a
written annual confirmation from each independent non-
executive director of his independence and the Company
considers the existing independent non-executive directors to
be independent under the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules up to the date of this Annual
Report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Independence and Relationship (continued)

Biographical details and relevant relationships among the
directors are set out in the “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” section in the Report of the Directors of this
Annual Report.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election
Appointment

Although the Company has not set up a nomination committee,
the Board is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of directors, monitoring the
appointment and succession planning of directors and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive directors.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition
regularly to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of
the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out
the selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship
of the Company by reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge and personal integrity of the proposed
candidates, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory
requirements.

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure proper understanding of the operations
and business of the Company and full awareness of director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing

briefing and professional development to directors whenever
necessary.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election (continued)
Re-election

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company
(the “Articles of Association”), one-third of the directors for
the time being or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation for re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting, such that every
director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Currently, all independent non-executive directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific term but are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of
Association. As such, the Board considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those
in the CG Code.

Under the code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill
a casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after their appointment. Every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. In accordance with the Articles of Association, any
director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting and shall
then be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that such a
deviation is not material as casual vacancy seldom appears and
interval between the appointment made to fill casual vacancy
and the immediate following annual general meeting is short.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Roles of Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Mr. Takeshi
Nomaguchi hold the positions of Chairman and Managing
Director respectively. Their respective responsibilities are
clearly defined and set out in writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is
responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice. With the
support of the executive directors and senior management, the
Managing Director is responsible for managing the Group’s
business, including implementation of objectives, policies
and major strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board. He
is also in charge of the Company’s day-to-day operation in
accordance with the instructions from the Board.

Board Committees

The Board has established two committees, namely the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are available to shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in October 1999 with
specific written terms of reference which set out its role and
function and all of its members are independent non-executive
directors, one of them possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. As at the date of this Annual Report, the Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Chan Kay Cheung (Chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John and Mr. Lui
Shing Ming, Brian.

The Audit Committee will conduct, on behalf of the Board, an
annual review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function and training programmes and budget.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee include,
inter alia, the following:

Relationship with the Company’s external auditors

(a) to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditors, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditors, and any
questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditors;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process
in accordance with applicable standards;

(c) to develop and implement policy on the engagement of
external auditors to supply non-audit services;

(d) to report to the Board, identifying any matters in respect
of which it considers that action or improvement is needed
and making recommendations as to the steps to be taken;

Review of financial information of the Company

(e) to monitor the integrity of financial statements, review the
annual and interim reports, and review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them before submission
to the Board;

Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system and
internal control procedures

(f) to review the Company’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems;

(g) to discuss with the management the system of internal
control and ensure that management has discharged its
duty to have an effective internal control system including
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system and
internal control procedures (continued)

(h)

@

(k)

@

to consider any findings of major investigations of internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies
and practices;

to review the external auditors’ management letter,
any material queries raised by the external auditors to
management in respect of the accounting records, financial
statements or systems of control and management’s
response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response
to the issues raised in the external auditors’ management
letter;

to report to the Board on all matters set out in the code
provisions in relation to the Audit Committee contained in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules; and

(m) to consider any other topics, as defined by the Board.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2010 to review the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discuss internal
controls and financial reporting matters including a review
of the interim financial statements for the six months ended
30 September 2009 and the annual financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2009 of the Company. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2010 of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year
are set out below:

A (5)
#REIE ()

AEEFEGTRGRE Z W& T

Number of Audit Number of Average
Name of the committee members Committee meetings attendance attendance rate
HEREEHA 13
ZHEWB LM K Y R KB S
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 2 2 100%
(Chairman of the Audit (BFEZAETFEH)
Committee)
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [5F -y 2 2 100%
LUI Shing Ming, Brian g W 2 2 100%
Remuneration Committee HMER &

The Remuneration Committee was established in September
2005 with specific written terms of reference which set out
its role and function and is constituted by two executive
directors, namely Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis
and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr.
Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John and Mr. Lui
Shing Ming, Brian.

The duties and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include, inter alia, the following:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;

(b) to have the delegated responsibility to determine the
specific remuneration package of all executive directors
and senior management, and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive directors;

(c) toreview and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) HIREE ()
Remuneration Committee (continued) HMER S ()

(d) to review and approve the compensation payable to (d) 7% BE) B A1t vhe IR ol Ok s 4% 1k AT M RE A T
executive directors and senior management in connection MITEERRREEANB Z A

with any loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(e) toreview and approve compensation arrangements relating (e) P S Hibvhe M B iR Bk R AT B A B &
to dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct; HEMAE R Z i s

(f) to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates is (f) WERM ME R ILATMBE AR HAKR Y
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and HEE s K

(g) to advise shareholders on how to vote with respect to any (g) HUAR B8 i A B ) 28 2 sk o ik e 2 A ]

service contracts of directors that require shareholders’ HRERBEAGAZHEZT > MR ERH
approval under the Listing Rules. =8 A
The Remuneration Committee had convened one meeting FN 2 B e e e AR N BT IR

during the year to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration BE (o A 45) AR 9] 2 557 I B0 ok B 2 4 > D
policy and structure, and the remuneration of all directors B 2 B8 RN ] AR RN Z 4 o AR R4S

for the year under review. Details of the emoluments of each A R s M RES o
director of the Company are set out in note 8 to the financial

statements.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during REEFHWEEGRBEZHERRHEWT

the year are set out below:

Number of Remuneration

Name of the committee members Committee meetings
HMEHE
ZHRARAAM RKY
Executive directors A7 F
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen sy 1
(Chairman of the Remuneration (¥ Z A & F /)
Committee)
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SCIKFE 1
Independent non-executive B B AT i H
directors
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 1
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John BEY 1
LUI Shing Ming, Brian Gitza] 1
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Number of
attendance

R KB

Average
attendance rate
HE#E

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%



MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors of the
Company (the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific
enquiry of all directors of the Company, the directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
as set out in the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31
March 2010.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities
Transactions by the Relevant Employees (the “Employees
Code”) on no less exacting terms than the Model Code for
securities transactions by the employees who are likely to be
in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Code by the employees was noted by the Company throughout
the year ended 31 March 2010.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2010. In preparing the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2010, appropriate accounting principles
and policies are selected and applied consistently; judgments
and estimates made are appropriate and reasonable; and these
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board
with such information and explanations as are necessary to
enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
Company’s financial information and position, which are put
before the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of both annual and interim
reports, price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures
required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors,
Messrs. Ernst & Young (“E&Y”), are set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on pages 40 to 41 of this Annual Report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(continued)

External Auditors’ Remuneration

E&Y has been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditors
by shareholders at the 2009 annual general meeting until
the conclusion of the next annual general meeting. They are
primarily responsible for providing audit services in connection
with the annual consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2010.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, E&Y received
approximately HK$645,000 (2009: HK$615,000) for audit and
related services and HK$94,000 (2009: Nil) for other non-audit
services which include the taxation services.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls
and reviewing its effectiveness. The system has been designed
to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the business
objective. Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.
The Board has delegated to the management the implementing
of the strategies and policies on internal controls and risk
management adopted by the Board and the review of relevant
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management procedures.

During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function and
their training programmes and budget.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication
with shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars.

The Company maintains a website at www.fourseasinvestment.
com.hk as a communication platform with shareholders and
investors, where information and updates on the Company’s
announcements, business developments/operations and other
information are available for public access.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
the communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board and Board committees actively
participate in the annual general meeting and answer questions
from the shareholders. Separate resolutions are proposed for
each substantial issue at the annual general meeting. Notice of
the annual general meeting together with related papers are sent
to the shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the
meeting, setting out details of each proposed resolution, voting
procedures and other relevant information. All resolutions put
forward at shareholder meetings including the annual general
meeting will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and the poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and of the Company after each shareholder meeting.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEAERSE

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= K

To the shareholders of
Four Seas Food Investment Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Four Seas Food
Investment Holdings Limited set out on pages 42 to 128,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= K

To the shareholders of
Four Seas Food Investment Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
(continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and true and fair presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2010 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 16 July 2010
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Consolidated Income Statement

Year ended 31 March 2010 BE -2 —ZEHF=A=+—HILLtEE

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Share of profits and losses of
associates

Fair value gains/(losses) on
financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax credit/(expense)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY
— Basic and diluted

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are

BA

8B A

B

F At e A B W 2
# Lo s

T BB ¢
Tl AR

JE Al gt 85 2 ] ¥ A

B 18

AP E 7 18 1R 28 A\ R Y
B b E Z AT A

etk (i)

B B 1 %k A

A B S, (B 52)

A A5 JE B DS IR AR 2y W
R 25 0 A1 5 2 ik

7R 2 w0 T 2 A B

WA 5 Bt A
— R A R i

disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.
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Notes

Mt it

10

11

13

2010
R R
HK$’°000
W T
559,501
(526,092)
33,409
20,960
(3,227)
(29,511)
(704)

24,989

631
46,547

(2,272)

44,275

HK17.06 cents

2009
ZRRIJE
HK$’000
BT or
628,149
(598,987)
29,162
4,978
(3,806)
(24,809)
(3,073)

29,930

(18,308)
14,074

1,842

15,916

HK®6.13 cents

A BA A AE B HE A B B T R R B A R R SR
W 5 i B RE L2 o



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR
THE YEAR

Share of other comprehensive
income/(loss) of associates,
net of tax

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME/(LOSS)
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

7 4 ¢ i

AR AP B I Al 2 i
etk Ol )

YA B 2 > ) ) At
2 (ER)
(BBitR)

A% A5 B¢ JE Al 2 il
W2k Ol i)
(B Bif%)

7 AP B 48 2 i W 2k
i 3 % A 4 ) M 2 P AT

SEEZHEKWE X
Year ended 31 March 2010 2 =—ZE—ZF=F=1+—HILFE
2010 2009
—“R-BE CRRAF
HK$’000 HK$’000

W T BT

44,275 15,916

(1,340) 7,557

(1,340) 7,557

42,935 23,473
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB RN K

31 March 2010 =2 —Z2F=A=+—H

2010
e
Notes HKS$’000
M it BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS F Ui Y
Property, plant and equipment L E BN & 14 52,345
Prepaid land lease payments TH AT 1 Mo A B OE 15 29,490
Interests in associates W8 A W) Z RE A 17 310,751
Deferred tax assets 9 4L Bl JEH 28 2,961
Other non-current asset oAl IR R W) E 18 540
Total non-current assets eV B A E A 396,087
CURRENT ASSETS o) ¥ E
Due from associates JFEE WAL B 2 A 17 100
Inventories & 19 78,955
Trade receivables JRE W B B B K 20 44,209
Prepayments, deposits and AT ~ 5T K&
other receivables L Al WA K JE 21 2,714
Financial assets at fair value /N R K= E
through profit or loss AR ) 4 /b & 22 15,677
Cash and cash equivalents BRe kB34S EEE 23 68,085
Total current assets B E AR 209,740
CURRENT LIABILITIES T RER
Trade and bills payables AT B 5 Wk B 52 24 47,531
Other payables and accruals U Al 8 Ak 3k I B B £ A 25 17,665
Derivative financial instrument ffik&mT i 26 -
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 28 BT R B Z SR AT Bk 27 56,981
Tax payable JRE A B I 1,538
Total current liabilities it B A AR AR E 123,715
NET CURRENT ASSETS L ) A i 86,025
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT  #8 % 55 3 % 8) £1 1%
LIABILITIES 482,112
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES R W) £1 %
Deferred tax liabilities A JE A JE £ K 28 881
Net assets G R 481,231
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2009

S
HKS$’000

e 1T

55,185
30,060
290,562
4,993
540

381,340
97
65,452
58,056

1,527

15,983
60,889

202,004

27,644
12,318
35
92,488
1,538

134,023

67,981

449,321

641

448,680



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SEeETBMRR K

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—ZF=H=+—H

2010 2009
R -FE ZERRNIE

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt 7t BT B F o

EQUITY B 22

Issued capital OB AT A 29 25,959 25,959

Reserves it 5 31(a) 447,484 414,933

Proposed final dividends joit= U 12 7,788 7,788

Total equity HE 2 4B A 481,231 448,680

Takeshi NOMAGUCHI % [ 113 MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis 3CK#

Director # Director #ZH

mNERREERAERAA o —2—2558% 45
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Year ended 31 March 2010 BE -2 —ZEHF=A=+—HILLtEE

Share
Issued  premium
capital account
cH i Ty
JiA e Bk
Note  HK$'000  HK$'000
Wit EWFL  EFTL
At 1 April 2008 REZZZNERA—H 25,959 90,557
Total comprehensive income RGBT
for the year - -
Final 2008 dividend declared ER-FFNEAHRE - -
Interim 2009 dividend “EFRETHRE 12 = =
Proposed final 2009 dividend “RREREANRE 12 - -
Transfer to share of other BRZENBREARZ
reserves of associates Al o - -
At 31 March 2009 REZFNEZ=4—H 25,959 90,557+
At 1 April 2009 REZFNENA—H 25,959 90,557
Total comprehensive income RGBT
for the year - -
Final 2009 dividend declared HER-FFAEAHBE - -
Interim 2010 dividend “E-RENHRA 12 - -
Proposed final 2010 dividend “E-REREARE - =
Transfer to share of other BRZENBEARZ
reserves of associates Al i - -
At 31 March 2010 RZF-FE=ZH=1—H 25,959 90,557
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$447,484,000

(2009: HK$414,933,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Share of

Capital other
redemption  reserves of
reserve  associates
Ktk

A BEAT
Wl A
HK$'000  HK$'000
#HFr  EW T
(Note 31(a))

(Hit3i()

579 11,258

- 1,557

- 275

579% 19,090*

579 19,090

- (1,340)

- (141)

579% 17,609*

Retained
profits

fRERA
HKS$ 000

#H T

299450
15,916
(2,59%)
(1.789)

275)

304,707*

304,707
475
(2,596)
(1,788)

141

338,730%

Proposed
final
dividend

EAAN
K&
HKS$ 000

#W T

7,788

(7,788)

1,788

1,788

7,788

(7,788)

1,788

1,788

Total
equity

LEE L
HKS$ 000

#H T

435,591

BT
(1,788)
(2,59)

448,680

443,680

42,935
(1.788)
(2,59)

481,231

SR R O\ AR A M B OIR UL AR P 2 AR

447,484,000 7C (ZFF LA : 414,933,000%7C) ©



CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Share of profits and losses
of associates

Bank interest income

Dividend income from financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Fair value gain on a derivative
financial instrument

Gain on disposal of financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Gain on acquisition of additional
interests in an associate

Gain on deemed acquisition of
additional interests in
an associate

Depreciation

Fair value losses/(gains) on
financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment of slow-moving
inventories

Recognition of prepaid land
lease payments

Increase in amounts due from
associates

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in trade
receivables

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

Increase/(decrease) in trade and
bills payables

Increase/(decrease) in other
payables and accruals

Decrease in a derivative financial
instrument

Cash generated from operations
Hong Kong profits tax paid

Net cash flows from operating
activities — page 48

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BEXGHHZB &R

ik A il ¥ A
Tk 510 45 JE A e 8

il S A

HEAW; gt 8 A ) i ) e
Jig 7

HRATA BB
BN EE R RS

N A S e
e B WA

fikEm TRz

AR ELE

B 3% 0 P B R 48
IR W 4 il o

Z Wtk

Sl Nk 2 4 ) A B 2
Z Wi

BB e AT 2 2 ]
ARE 25 2 WA

it

A BB RS
NI B 4 i E 2
NFEREER (k)
JE Wi B9 53 Bk Yok fi

o 8 7 B 2 A

e 8 2 A - A B K

GERERNER

M WSt 8 A W) 2 B4

HRZBA,/ (Bm)

W B iRk 2 WA/
(384 9m)

FA#IE ~ 5T 4 KA

WERGRIEZ WA (3 m)

TEAH B 2 IRk e SRR 2
¥,/ ()

Al 8 ok S e it R

W, G )
fii k& THZ WA

MEXBRBZHE
O 7 9 1 45

REXBRBZBEERA

FR—48H

Year ended 31 March 2010 §ZE=—Z2—ZF=HA=1+—HLLFE

- 2010 2009

SR -BE CRRAE

Notes HK$’000 HKS$’000
Wit EW T HWT T
46,547 14,074

6 704 3,073
(24,989) (29,930)
5 (54) (905)
5 101) (298)
5 - (609)
5 (16,650) (25)
5 (800) -
5 (1,111) -
7 3,101 3,108
7 (631) 18,308
7 1,271 434
7 609 -
7 570 570
8,466 7,800

3) (93)

(14,112) 31,954

12,576 (10,475)

(1,187) 236

19,887 (5,197)

5,347 (5,046)

(35) =

30,939 19,179

- (3,684)

30,939 15,495

DN ERREERERLAE « —2—=2288% 4/



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

%Aﬁﬁmgﬁ

Year ended 31 March 2010 H#Z =& — ZA=1+—HLEE
2010 2009
R N
Notes HK$’000 HKS$’000
W W T T T
Net cash flows from operating RgEHRBIBERA
activities — page 47 FH-47H 30,939 15,495
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING #&E£# 2B 47
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received SR AT RIS 54 905
Dividends received from financial W B A% 2y - 95 1 18 25 A MR
assets at fair value through F 42 il E 22 i
profit or loss 101 298
Dividends received from an associate W BRI 8 A W) R B 8,017 7,969
Purchases of items of property, YN/ ERY Y e
plant and equipment (261) (4,916)
Purchases of additional interests Jile A\ Tk 2 2 ] A RE £
in associates (2,646) (143)
Purchases of financial assets il A\ P 1 1R 25 AR
at fair value through profit or loss 1 4 il 5 (21,244) (15,952)
Proceeds from disposal of financial B 4 A PR B I 1H 28 AR Y
assets at fair value through SMEREMGRA
profit or loss 38,831 25
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEHEZBERA/ (HH)
investing activities FH 22,852 (11,814)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING @& #2540 &
ACTIVITIES
Increase/(decrease) in bank and trust MITERMGERBERERZ
receipt loans, net B/ (WA » FH (35,507) 13,293
Interest paid [REREIDS (704) (3,073)
Dividends paid CAT BB (10,384) (10,384)
Net cash flows used in financing il Y ) < B 4 U A
activities (46,595) (164)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND Ble BB &S H Z 35
CASH EQUIVALENTS 7,196 3,517
Cash and cash equivalents at ERZBE RS ESEEH
beginning of year 60,389 57,372
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  4E#& 234 KB & 5% H
AT END OF YEAR 68,085 60,889
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF BReERRAEFHHAREZ
CASH AND CASH Vg
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances BERRITHER 23 36,619 29,272
Time deposits with original maturity FEHBEYASR=MAZ
of less than three months & W17 3K
when acquired 23 31,466 31,617
68,085 60,889

FOUR SEAS FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2010



Statement of Financial Position

B %5 iR R 3R

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—ZF=HA=+—H

2010 2009
R R ZERRNE
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
Mt 7t BT o BT o
NON-CURRENT ASSETS It B
Interests in subsidiaries N A P < 16 202,131 233,222
CURRENT ASSETS W % E
Due from subsidiaries JE Wit BfF B A ] 16 376 340
Prepayments, deposits and TN K ~ T2 K
other receivables Al JEE Ik D 21 130 130
Cash and bank balances B4 KR AT E1F 23 165 124
Total current assets ) A A 671 594
CURRENT LIABILITIES L RER
Due to subsidiaries JRE A Bt JE 2 ] 16 11,399 32,102
Accruals i N=Ei 25 512 481
Total current liabilities ) A AR 11,911 32,583
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES it Bh £ 4% o (11,240) (31,989)
Net assets B EFH 190,891 201,233
EQUITY BE 2%
Issued capital [BRZFY N 29 25,959 25,959
Reserves Tt 5 31(b) 157,144 167,486
Proposed final dividends e R A 1 S 12 7,788 7,788
Total equity HE £ 4844 190,891 201,233

Takeshi NOMAGUCHI %7 A 11 5%

Director I

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis 3X & Ff

Director I

mNERREERAERAA o —2—2558% 49



Notes to Financial Statements

BY %% R &5 MY EE

31 March 2010 =2 —Z2F=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 1. A %R

50

Four Seas Food Investment Holdings Limited is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
registered office of the Company is located at Four Seas
eFood Centre, No. 2 Hong Ting Road, Sai Kung, Hong
Kong.

During the year, the Group’s principal activities consisted
of the trading of frozen meat, seafood and vegetables. The
principal activities of associates are the manufacturing and
trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, noodles, poultry products, ham and ham-
related products, and the operations of restaurants.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for certain derivative financial instruments and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2010. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All
income, expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting
from intercompany transactions and intercompany balances
within the Group are eliminated on consolidation in full.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements. Except for in certain cases, giving rise to new
and revised accounting policies and additional disclosures,
the adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs has had no
significant effect on these financial statements.

HKERS 1 and HKAS 27
Amendments

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKEFRS 8
HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 18 Amendment*

HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 32 and HKAS |
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and
HKAS 39 Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16
HK(IFRIC)-Int 18

Improvements to HKFRSs
(October 2008)

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
HKFRSs and HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements - Cost of
an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment -
Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures - Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments

Operating Segments

Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18 Revenue -
Determining whether an entity is acting as
a principal or as an agent

Borrowing Costs

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements - Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising
on Liquidation

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of
Embedded Derivatives and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement -
Embedded Derivatives

Customer Loyalty Programmes
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

Transfers of Assets from Customers
(adopted from 1 July 2009)

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs

* Included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 (as issued in May 2009).
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31 March 2010 =2 —FF=A=+—8

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised
HKFRSs are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
HKFRSs and HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements — Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

The HKAS 27 Amendment requires all dividends from
subsidiaries, associates or jointly-controlled entities
to be recognised in the income statement in the
parent’s separate financial statements. The distinction
between pre and post acquisition profits is no longer
required. However, the payment of such dividends
requires the Company to consider whether there is an
indicator of impairment. The amendment is applied
prospectively. HKAS 27 has also been amended to
deal with the measurement of the cost of investments
where a parent reorganises the structure of its group
by establishing a new entity as its parent. The HKFRS
1 Amendment allows a first-time adopter of HKFRSs
to measure its investments in subsidiaries, associates
or jointly-controlled entities using a deemed cost. As
the Group is not a first-time adopter of HKFRSs, the
HKFRS 1 Amendment is not applicable to the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment —
Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

The HKFRS 2 Amendments clarify that vesting
conditions are service conditions and performance
conditions only. Any other conditions are non-
vesting conditions. Where an award does not vest as
a result of a failure to meet a non-vesting condition
that is within the control of either the entity or the
counterparty, this is accounted for as a cancellation.
As the Group has not entered into share-based
payment schemes with non-vesting conditions
attached, the amendments have had no impact on
the financial position or results of operations of the
Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(©)

(d)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Improving Disclosures about Financial
Instruments

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require additional
disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity
risk. Fair value measurements related to items
recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by sources
of inputs using a three-level fair value hierarchy,
by class, for all financial instruments recognised at
fair value. In addition, a reconciliation between the
beginning and ending balances is now required for
level 3 fair value measurements, as well as significant
transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy.
The amendments also clarify the requirements for
liquidity risk disclosures with respect to derivative
transactions and assets used for liquidity management.
The fair value measurement disclosures are presented
in note 36 to the financial statements. As the Group
does not have derivative financial liabilities as at
31 March 2010, the amendments on liquidity risk
disclosures have no impact to the Group.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8, which replaces HKAS 14 Segment
Reporting, specifies how an entity should report
information about its operating segments, based on
information about the components of the entity that
is available to the chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of allocating resources to the segments
and assessing their performance. The standard also
requires the disclosure of information about the
products and services provided by the segments,
the geographical areas in which the Group operates,
and revenue from the Group’s major customers.
In the past, no business and geographical segment
information was presented as the Group has only one
single business segment. The application of HKFRS
8 has not resulted in a redesignation of the Group’s
reportable segment as compared with the primary
reportable segment determined in accordance with
HKAS 14.

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—ZF=HA=+—H

2.2 €t WOR R di sk 2 52 8 (78)

(c) Tl et e Q0SB 798 2 T A ¢
W 7E — L F i TR0 g 2 N8 ET
S

T o B s e R SR TR 2 B T AR
R AP E X B B AR
B A ER - A B DL AP IR Z IH
H Z 2 F {6 5t 5 2608k DL 2 °F i e a8
ZPAam TR ZWRRHA=E AT
288 15 = i A\ U R R T A
Wi o BLAh > BUEBL S =8 A FE
DL L SF AR N 45 [ R TR
Kl 438 9 A7 390 0 BRI A% A i TR 2
R o BT A A AT TRR 5 &
AR ESEHZEEZ R E
< JE B Y 1 B BLAE o A PR R R
B I B 25 R B RE36 o Hi R A 4R
BB -RE=ZH =+ —H W AT
M 4 i 515 o WCHAT B T B R 2
CHEN RN 232

(d) 7 98 S 25 it o it B SRR 0% [ 4K 2 40

A v B s ek o S SRR SR AR T A
TR ER 1458 5 A A > RSk
JRE % e e oy S5 A R AR R o WA B
TR B BLA SE AT B > Sl A T R
R oy E R IR 3 i DA R R A
AR B o w1 )t 2SR B 82 A (W] 43
P 452 436 B4 28 Ot R A5 - 4R S AR
A M I 2 38 > DL A EHE P A
Ie] b [t 4 S N o DAAEAREJEE > iR
ACHR ) A B SR A o PR b oI
TP IR K B 5y 2 o AR
A v B 5 e o S S8 5% AY 4R Ik R
75 RS 4R T Y o oy B DL A R A
W RS 14 5% A R B 4 IR AR —
B o

mHERREERAERAA o —E—255% 53



31 March 2010 =2 —FF=A=+—8

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(e)

()

(8)

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial
Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised) introduces changes in the
presentation and disclosures of financial statements.
The revised standard separates owner and non-owner
changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity
includes only details of transactions with owners,
with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a
single line. In addition, this standard introduces the
statement of comprehensive income, with all items
of income and expense recognised in profit or loss,
together with all other items of recognised income
and expense recognised directly in equity, either in
one single statement, or in two linked statements. The
Group has elected to present two statements.

Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18 Revenue —
Determining whether an entity is acting as a principal
or as an agent

Guidance has been added to the appendix (which
accompanies the standard) to determine whether the
Group is acting as a principal or as an agent. The
features to consider are whether the Group (i) has
the primary responsibility for providing the goods or
services, (ii) has inventory risk, (iii) has the discretion
to establish prices and (iv) bears credit risk. The
Group has assessed its revenue arrangements against
these criteria and concluded that it is acting as a
principal in all arrangements. The amendment has
had no impact on the financial position or results of
operations of the Group.

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

HKAS 23 has been revised to require capitalisation
of borrowing costs when such costs are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset. As the Group’s
current policy for borrowing costs aligns with the
requirements of the revised standard, the revised
standard has had no impact on the financial position
or results of operations of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(h) Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:

(1)

Presentation and HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation

The HKAS 32 Amendments provide a limited scope
exception for puttable financial instruments and
instruments that impose specified obligations arising
on liquidation to be classified as equity if they
fulfil a number of specified features. The HKAS 1
Amendments require disclosure of certain information
relating to these puttable financial instruments
and obligations classified as equity. As the Group
currently has no such financial instruments or
obligations, the amendments have had no impact on
the financial position or results of operations of the
Group.

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment
of Embedded Derivatives and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement —
Embedded Derivatives

The amendment to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 requires an
entity to assess whether an embedded derivative must
be separated from a host contract when the entity
reclassifies a hybrid financial asset out of the fair
value through profit or loss category. This assessment
is to be made based on circumstances that existed on
the later of the date the entity first became a party to
the contract and the date of any contract amendments
that significantly change the cash flows of the
contract. HKAS 39 has been revised to state that if an
embedded derivative cannot be separately measured,
the entire hybrid instrument must remain classified
as fair value through profit or loss in its entirety. The
adoption of the amendments has had no impact on
the financial position or results of operations of the
Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

Q)

(k)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

HKIFRIC)-Int 13 requires customer loyalty award
credits to be accounted for as a separate component
of the sales transaction in which they are granted.
The consideration received in the sales transaction is
allocated between the loyalty award credits and the
other components of the sale. The amount allocated to
the loyalty award credits is determined by reference
to their fair value and is deferred until the awards are
redeemed or the liability is otherwise extinguished.
As the Group currently has no customer loyalty award
scheme, the interpretation has had no impact on
the financial position or results of operations of the
Group.

HK{FRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estate

HK{IFRIC)-Int 15 replaces HK Interpretation 3
Revenue — Pre-completion Contracts for the Sale
of Development Properties. It clarifies when and
how an agreement for the construction of real estate
should be accounted for as a construction contract in
accordance with HKAS 11 Construction Contracts
or an agreement for the sale of goods or services in
accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue. As the Group
currently is not involved in any construction of real
estate, the interpretation has had no impact on the
financial position or results of operations of the
Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

@

(m)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 provides guidance on the
accounting for a hedge of a net investment in a
foreign operation. This includes clarification that
(i) hedge accounting may be applied only to the
foreign exchange differences arising between the
functional currencies of the foreign operation and
the parent entity; (ii) a hedging instrument may be
held by any entities within a group; and (iii) on
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative gain
or loss relating to both the net investment and the
hedging instrument that was determined to be an
effective hedge should be reclassified to the income
statement as a reclassification adjustment. As the
Group currently has no hedge of a net investment in a
foreign operation, the interpretation has had no impact
on the financial position or results of operations of the
Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers
(adopted from 1 July 2009)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 provides guidance on accounting
by recipients that receive from customers items
of property, plant and equipment or cash for the
acquisition or construction of such items, provided
that these assets must then be used to connect
customers to networks or to provide ongoing access to
a supply of goods or services, or both. As the Group
currently has no such transactions, the interpretation
has had no impact on the financial position or results
of operations of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(n) In October 2008, the HKICPA issued its first

2.2 €t WOR R di sk 2 52 8 (78)

m) ZFFNE+H > FHGEAATHE

Improvements to HKFRSs which sets out amendments
to a number of HKFRSs. Except for the amendments
to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations — Plan to sell the controlling
interest in a subsidiary which are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009, the Group
adopted all the amendments from 1 April 2009. While
the adoption of some of the amendments results
in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments has had a significant financial impact
on the Group. Details of the key amendments most
applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
Removes the reference to “total interest income”
as a component of finance costs.

e HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
Clarifies that assets and liabilities which are
classified as held for trading in accordance with
HKAS 39 are not automatically classified as
current in the statement of financial position.

e HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Replaces the term “net selling price” with “fair
value less costs to sell” and the recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use.

In addition, items of property, plant and
equipment held for rental that are routinely sold
in the ordinary course of business after rental are
transferred to inventories when rental ceases and
they are held for sale.

e HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets: When
discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘“fair
value less costs to sell”, additional disclosures
(e.g., discount rate and growth rate used) are
required which are consistent with the disclosures
required when the discounted cash flows are used
to estimate “value in use”.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 1 Amendment

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKERS 3 (Revised)
HKFRS 9

HKAS 24 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 Amendment

HKAS 39 Amendment

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards'

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards -
Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters®

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards -
Limited Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters*

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment -
Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions®

Business Combinations'
Financial Instruments®

Related Party Disclosures®

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements'

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation - Classification of Rights Issues®

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement - Eligible
Hedged Items!
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23T R AE B2 FEY
HONG KONG FINANCIAL 5 9+ i J(76)
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
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HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity v (15 B A 2 o [Ul#as TR A5
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued
Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 and 2010 which sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a
view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording.
The amendments to HKFRS 2, HKAS 38, HK(IFRIC)-Int
9 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 while the amendments
to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 8, HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS 17,
HKAS 36 and HKAS 39 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2010 although there
are separate transitional provisions for each standard or
interpretation. The amendments to HKFRS 3 and transition
requirements for amendments arising as a result of HKAS
27 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2010 while the amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
7, HKAS 1, HKAS 34 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January
2010, as appropriate

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and 1 January

2011, as appropriate

HKFRS 1 (Revised) was issued with an aim to improve
the structure of the standard. The revised version of the
standard does not make any changes to the substance of
accounting by first-time adopters. As the Group is not a
first-time adopter of HKFRSs, the amendments will not
have any financial impact on the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The HKFRS 1 Amendments provide relief from the full
retrospective application of HKFRSs for the measurement
of oil and gas assets and leases. As a result of extending
the options for determining deemed cost to oil and gas
assets, the existing exemption relating to decommissioning
liabilities has also been revised. As the Group is not a
first-time adopter of HKFRSs, the amendments will not
have any financial impact on the Group.

The HKFRS 1 Amendment provides first-time adopters
with the same transitional provisions as included in the
amendments to HKFRS 7. The transitional provisions in
HKFRS 7 have been amended to clarify that an entity need
not provide the disclosure required by the amendments

to HKFRS 7 for (i) any annual or interim period, including
any statement of financial position, presented within an
annual comparative period ended before 31 December
2009 or (ii) any statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period as at a date
before 31 December 2009. As the Group is not a first-time
adopter of HKFRSs, the amendments will not have any
financial impact on the Group.

The HKFRS 2 Amendments provide guidance on how to
account for cash-settled share-based payment transactions
in the separate financial statements of the entity receiving
the goods and services when the entity has no obligation
to settle the share-based payment transactions. The
amendments also incorporate guidance that was previously
included in HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2 and
HK{IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share
Transactions. The Group expects to adopt the HKFRS
2 Amendments from 1 April 2010. The amendments
are unlikely to have any significant implications on the
Group’s accounting for share-based payments.

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in
the accounting for business combinations that will impact
the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in
the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported
results.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss of control
is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore,
such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will
it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the revised
standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the
subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary.
Other consequential amendments were made to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes,
HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates, HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and HKAS 31
Interests in Joint Ventures.

The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 3 (Revised) and
HKAS 27 (Revised) from 1 April 2010. The changes
introduced by these revised standards must be applied
prospectively and will affect the accounting for future
acquisitions, loss of control and transactions with minority
interests.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of
phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification and
measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying
financial assets into four categories, an entity shall
classify financial assets as subsequently measured at
either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify
the approach for the classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS
39.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety by the end of 2010. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2013. The amendment is unlikely
to have any material financial impact on the Group.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definition
of related parties. It also provides for a partial exemption
of related party disclosure to government-related entities
for transactions with the same government or entities
that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the same government. The Group expects
to adopt HKAS 24 (Revised) from 1 April 2011 and the
comparative related party disclosures will be amended
accordingly. While the adoption of the revised standard
will result in changes in the accounting policy, the revised
standard is unlikely to have any impact on the related
party disclosures as the Group currently does not have any
significant transactions with government-related entities.

The HKAS 32 Amendment revises the definition of
financial liabilities such that rights, options or warrants
issued to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own
equity instruments for a fixed amount of any currency
are equity instruments, provided that the entity offers the
rights, options or warrants pro rata to all of its existing
owners of the same class of its own non-derivative equity
instruments. The Group expects to adopt the HKAS 32
Amendment from 1 April 2011. As the Group currently
has no such rights, options or warrants in issue, the
amendment is unlikely to have any financial impact on the
Group.

The HKAS 39 Amendment addresses the designation of
a one-sided risk in a hedged item, and the designation
of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular
situations. It clarifies that an entity is permitted to
designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow
variability of a financial instrument as a hedged item. The
Group expects to adopt the HKAS 39 Amendment from 1
April 2010. As the Group has not entered into any such
hedges, the amendment is unlikely to have any financial
impact on the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments remove an unintended
consequence arising from the treatment of prepayments of
future contributions in certain circumstances when there
is a minimum funding requirement. The amendments
require an entity to treat the benefit of an early payment
as a pension asset. The economic benefit available as
a reduction in future contributions is thus equal to the
sum of (i) the prepayment for future services and (ii) the
estimated future services costs less the estimated minimum
funding requirement contributions that would be required
as if there were no prepayments. As the Group has no
defined benefit scheme, the amendments will not have any
financial impact on the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 standardises practice in the accounting
for non-reciprocal distributions of non-cash assets to
owners. The interpretation clarifies that (i) a dividend
payable should be recognised when the dividend is
appropriately authorised and is no longer at the discretion
of the entity; (ii) an entity should measure the dividend
payable at the fair value of the net assets to be distributed;
and (iii) an entity should recognise the difference between
the dividend paid and the carrying amount of the net
assets distributed in profit or loss. Other consequential
amendments were made to HKAS 10 Events after the
Reporting Period and HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations. While the adoption
of the interpretation may result in changes in certain
accounting policies, the interpretation is unlikely to have
any material financial impact on the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 addresses the accounting by an entity
when the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and
result in the entity issuing equity instruments to a creditor
of the entity to extinguish all or part of the financial
liability. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation
from 1 April 2011. The interpretation clarifies that equity
instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial
liability are consideration paid in accordance with HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
and the difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability extinguished, and the consideration paid,
shall be recognised in profit or loss. The consideration
paid should be measured based on the fair value of the
equity instrument issued or, if the fair value of the equity
instrument cannot be reliably measured, the fair value of
the financial liability extinguished. As the Group has not
undertaken such transactions, the interpretation is unlikely
to have any material financial impact on the Group.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that all assets and
liabilities of a subsidiary shall be classified as held for
sale if an entity has a sale plan involving loss of control
of the subsidiary, regardless of whether the entity will
retain a non-controlling interest. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 April 2010. The changes
must be applied prospectively and will affect future
sale transactions or plans involving loss of control of a
subsidiary.

HK Interpretation 4 Leases — Determination of the Length
of Lease Term in respect of Hong Kong Land Leases is
revised as a consequence of the amendment to HKAS
17 Leases included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009.
Following this amendment, the scope of HK Interpretation
4 has been expanded to cover all land leases, including
those classified as finance leases. As a result, this
interpretation is applicable to all leases of property
accounted for in accordance with HKAS 16, HKAS 17 and
HKAS 40.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 issued in May 2009
sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. Except
for the amendment to HKAS 18, the Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 April 2010. There are
separate transitional provisions for each standard. While
the adoption of some of the amendments may result in
changes in accounting policies, none of these amendments
are expected to have a significant financial impact on the
Group.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets
out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2011. There
are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
While the adoption of some of the amendments may
result in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments are expected to have a significant financial
impact on the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly
or indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power
or issued share capital or controls the composition of
its board of directors; or over which the Company has a
contractual right to exercise a dominant influence with
respect to that entity’s financial and operating policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which
the Group has a long term interest of generally not less
than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is
in a position to exercise significant influence.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s share
of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates
is included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates and is not individually tested
for impairment. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates is included as part of the Group’s interests in
associates and is not individually tested for impairment.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s interests in associates are
treated as non-current assets and are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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31 March 2010 =2 —FF=A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of associates represents
the excess of the cost of the business combination over
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’
identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is
on or after 1 January 2005

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as an asset,
initially measured at cost and subsequently at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. In the case of associates,
goodwill is included in the carrying amount thereof, rather
than as a separately identified asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or
loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in
this circumstance is measured based on the relative values
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Excess over the cost of business combinations

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of acquisition of subsidiaries and
associates, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in the income statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset, unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the income statement in the period in
which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, the Group; (ii) has an
interest in the Group that gives it significant influence
over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the
Group;

(b) the party is an associate;
(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides with,
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d)
or (e); or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the income statement in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:

Buildings 2.5%

Leasehold improvements, 10% — 20%
furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles 10% — 20%

Computer systems 30%
Office equipment 10% — 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each
part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under
the operating leases are credited to the income statement
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
are charged to the income statement on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and loans and receivables, as appropriate. The
Group determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case
of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, amounts due from associates, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
the financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of sale in the near term. This category includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the
Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of
financial position at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the income statement. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether
the intent to sell them in the near term is still appropriate.
When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets
due to inactive markets and management’s intent to sell
them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets in rare
circumstances. The reclassification from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss to loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity
investments depends on the nature of the assets.

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—Z2F=A=+—H

2.4 BEEEHBORM E (5)

B VE e JC A S b BE A (A0)
P H S Rl 4 ()

A AR 2 4l A B K B
JHH - MW A R K OE - R 5 R
AR~ R A B HE At M WK JE K 3% 4 OF 7
i 1H 2 AR Z 4 il E o

& A it 2
S A 2 AR AT RO e T 4 8

H4 AT AE 508 18 1 AR 1Y <2 i B

S H 75 00 11 28 A\ IR BG4 Rl E L9
ER (= e ot < () N o4 S g
JIBRAERIBI N MBI RERE -
e HH 2 BE W BB TE Wt R PR -
I 2531 355 7 55 P i T S 3 R 3 A A B
WEAR G & 77 W & 5 I SE395%) b
ZHWIAZMESM TR -TATH
(R 456 1 30 ok A AT 4 DR ) 78 43 0% 45
EEE S > W e R EEE N TR
HERAh o AFEZE BB ARZ &
B O P B B B IR DL R AR 5 T2
- {F 5 B Q) e 2 A 9 R o WS SE AR
i 5 i 5 ) A £ 35 2 il R P B I 2 AT
o Jie S5, A0 A B > BB A A S 3% T T T
NG | B B R T DA R

A 45 ) 75 30 E A 4 A P 7B 8 4 25 AR
Z e E (R H @) DUmE e i
BB SR E B R VIANE o M
PRI T 455 A 3 R % R L R T B AR 2
H A 2 R B OB TR e
S B AR o JU) A AR TN 0 R A b
RIERTEII S EEE - RIEEEZ %
H oo A TEE R H R AR Z & Bh % E
A A T )y 5 kBRI Rk L - T A
W R BRI R -

MmN ERREEZERARAA  —F - FFR

73



31 March 2010 =2 - F=A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such
assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains in
the income statement. The loss arising from impairment
is recognised in the income statement in administrative
expenses.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired;

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
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31 March 2010 —2—2F=A=1+—8

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows
is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement.
Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
administrative expenses in the income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge,
as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of
its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities including trade and bills
payables, other payables, a derivative financial instrument
and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
income statement when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate method
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the income statement.
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31 March 2010 —2—2F=A=1+—8

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and
(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded
in active markets is determined by reference to quoted
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for
long positions and ask price for short positions) without
any deduction for transaction costs. For financial
instruments where there is no active market, the fair value
is determined using appropriate valuation techniques.
Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market
transactions; reference to the current market value of
another instrument which is substantially the same; a
discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.

Derivative financial instrument

The Group used a derivative financial instrument that was
a forward currency contract to hedge its foreign currency
risk in the prior years. Such derivative financial instrument
is initially recognised at fair value on the date on which
the derivative contract is entered into and is subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets
when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the
fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the income statement,
except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which
is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis
and includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion,
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Net realisable value
is based on the estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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31 March 2010 =2 - F=A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other non-current asset

Other non-current asset represents an unlisted club
debenture which is intended to be held for long term
purposes, and is stated at cost less any impairment loss.
The club debenture is tested for impairment annually
either individually or at the cash-generating unit level.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as
to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset;

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established;

FOUR SEAS FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2010

2.4 BEEEHBORM E (5)

i 73 8¢ (41

A S 0 O A 2 MR A AR R 8 OR
b o S R E R T AR AR A R R
i v ) 8 BT AT B A 2R A B I E A
F 2 1k o R W W8 2 0 A B I A R
B 8 i b 9] R TR RE A o M AE TR REH
J2 0 I R A i ) 8 i A B A A A B UE
B A BT IR A DA R

B A R R T 2 B R A >
AR B T e o 9] R O ) A R R
Bt 3 Je Bt 5 3 ) 5t 5 o

i A Fr 5 AT BUAT HE A I B0 A O R %
B9 B I £ K o LR R B A B
] — HE R B 2 W] % [ — 78 5 0 B A B
SUJ 908 7iE A58 I S T SO0 A B R R LA

oA e

il e A\ i 7 4R I 5 AR KK O A 28 3 B T 5
Ho A B > J5 4% T B kP DU R

(a) A EHE A I - BEA RE 2 T KRB K
Weis Ol H Iy o AR EAS T E
WHEA AN Z SR FE > FAHS
Hi 5 2 B A AT o B B 2 o

(b) S WC A 5 B R o A B R R
Wt BT iR A 2 AR 7 Y Bk T
AR ] P9 IR = A R 2R B 4 i B
Y B 2 4l S MR T 2 A R 3

(c) MBS > 8B AR IR B Z R O 2
F s



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms; and

(e) commission income, in the period in which services
are rendered.

Employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except
for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which
are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model or the Black-Scholes model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income
statement for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end
of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition,
which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-settled
transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options, if any, is
reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained profits within the
equity section of the statement of financial position, until
they have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by
the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. All differences
are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined.
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31 March 2010 =2 —Z2F=A=+—H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount
of goodwill at 31 March 2010 was HK$12,364,000 (2009:
HK$12,364,000).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2010 was
HK$4,673,000 (2009: HK$6,212,000). The amounts
of unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2010 was
HK$10,804,000 (2009: HK$11,147,000). Further details
are contained in note 28 to the financial statements.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group conducts impairment reviews of financial assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable
in accordance with the relevant accounting standards.
Determining whether an asset is impaired requires an
estimation of the future cash flows and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, the
Group would be required to revise the basis of making
the allowance and its future results would be affected. At
31 March 2010, a provision for impairment loss of trade
receivables of HK$735,000 (2009: HK$434,000) has been
made and the carrying amount of trade receivables was
HK$44,209,000 (2009: HK$58,056,000).

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The Group has only one single operating segment which
is the trading of frozen meat. The Group’s turnover,
representing sales of goods, and operating results are
substantially derived from the business activities in Hong
Kong. Accordingly, no segment information is presented
as only one business report is reviewed by management to
make strategic decisions.

3.

mHERREEZERARA

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—Z2F=A=+—H

F A A B R At (B

it Z AW E K (4)

IR A T A A R 40 Y T SR B 38 A AR Sk 30
BLE B PR BN » BT A R A H
BB EEMRIEERIEEE - &% BN
ﬂﬂ@{’ﬁtﬂik#ﬂ%‘fﬂuﬁﬁﬂ%m%@ﬁm#
I B A Y I T R 4 A > BS A OR R B B
B R g > u«kﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁn,uﬂﬁﬁLﬁﬁfé;%
HEH BE_F—-FF=A=1T—H:
B R mlﬁiéﬁiﬁffﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?&%Lmlﬁf&%
B B TG fH 254,673,0008 06 (B FE LA ¢
6,212,000 7C) - RE _F—FHE=H
= — H R 2 B IH S 1H £510,804,000
WOt (ZFFIUAE ¢ 11,147,0008 90) - #E
— 25 5F I WO BB A PR RE28 o

HE W B 5 06 5K Dl L

A A o 4 A E AT WA AR -
TR A S YA ﬁ@rﬁﬁﬁ
P 2 MR T E % HEORH B e s B & S AT ik
o FMEBERGWAE > FTEHARKE
& i & AE W AG FE 6 A G R B R DL G
HBE - MEBRAKRIEESRESREY
A A5 [ A A 15 A A > i R 2K
¥HEh 2B E - N _F—-FF=NH
Z=+—H > BWE S EXCEHBEEBE
HE B #735,000% 8 (ZFFR LA : 434,000
wot) o W 5o H Z IR A
44,209,000% 7C (= FF LA : 58,056,000
W) o

8 oy 8 R

AL — EHEBE RN S >
ALEHMBHERMZBERFRLE MR
KHER 43 ¥ 28 B 75 6 (0 36 85 o b R A B
Bk B B — S it o DA HH SR gk Bk
SE > WO e 25 43 H R o

Ae=-®-—

ZEFFR



31 March 2010 Z2—2F=A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for

5. WA > LA BN B g

We AR AS SR ] 2 2 R s R IR B R
H oo R g R i 2 A - WA

returns and trade discounts. An analysis of revenue, other AW AR KR Z AT T ¢
income and gains is as follows:
Group
e L |
2010 2009
—%-RE  ZBBAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Revenue WA 559,501 628,149
Other income JC A e A
Bank interest income SRAT RS WA 54 905
Commission income 4 WA 151 267
Claims received S4B WA 138 171
Dividend income from financial ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@i@@ﬁ]\ﬁﬁﬂg
assets at fair value S & EZ B WA
through profit or loss 101 298
Gross rental income A A WA 668 600
1,112 2,241
Gains W %2
Fair value gain on a derivative A Lem TR A PE
financial instrument W % = 609
Foreign exchange differences, net I 5 5% B > A 1,287 2,103
Gain on disposal of financial assets %ﬁf’&?iﬁﬁi@fﬁﬁi
at fair value through profit or loss AW #) & il & & Z W25 16,650 25
Gain on acquisition of additional i N\ T 7 2 ) 2 A1 RE A
interests in an associate Z W sk 800 -
Gain on deemed acquisition of Pl AR AR A8 2w A Ab
additional interests in an associate M %% Z W3S 1,111 =
19,848 2,737
20,960 4,978
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. Rl A
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BB R Z A AT
Group
e G|
2010 2009
R R4 “EFhE
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT C BT T
Interest on bank and trust receipt AR =M H N2 SR
loans wholly repayable within Z AT B AT e R
three months A B 704 3,073
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold

Depreciation

Recognition of prepaid land
lease payments

Minimum lease payments under
operating leases in respect of
land and buildings

Auditors’ remuneration

Employee benefit expense

(including directors’ remuneration

(note 8)):

Wages, salaries, allowances and

benefits in kind

Pension scheme contributions

Foreign exchange differences, net

CEFRZ A

e

Tl Z FHAT 3
GiNEge]

o Rt R E
Z B (KA &

A% 5 il T <
1 B 8 A B 52
(B 45 % 1 <
(HtiEs)) :
TH - #ide - M
B B4 46 A
RN

ME 5625 B > A

Net rental income FH 4 W A

Fair value losses/(gains) on financial 1%/ V- {875 #1825 A MR
assets at fair value through ) 4 il B 2 AP E
profit or loss B, (K2%)

Impairment of trade receivables JRE Wt B2 i MRk ik L

Impairment of slow-moving T 8 A B ol L+
inventories*

Gain on acquisition of additional il A\ J 7 A ) AP RE 2
interests in an associate” PR E Y

Gain on deemed acquisition of &R YN -/
additional interests in BAME 25 2 W25
an associate”

& The impairment of slow-moving inventories is included in “Cost of sales” in

the consolidated income statement.
2 The gain on acquisition of additional interests in an associate and gain on

deemed acquisition of additional interests in an associate are included in

“Other income and gains” in the consolidated income statement.
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AL 2 R BRI EE A C R ER S (GEA) ¢

Group

2010
—F %4
HK$’000
T T

Notes

Mt it

525,483
14 3,101

570

12,905
645

17,878
995

18,873

(1,287)
(224)

(631)
20 1,271
609

(800)

(1,111)

2009
ZERIE
HK$’000
W T T

598,987
3,108

570

17,454
615

13,925
1,023

14,948

(2,103)
(224)

18,308
434
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31 March 2010 =2 —Z2F=A=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as
follows:

Fees A4

Other emoluments: A T 4 -
Salaries, allowances and benefits s I REY
in kind F £
Pension scheme contributions IR 45t ) 2 kK

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

8. WML

ENERWERBEBBH A& L
R (b vid B ) K 7 o 2 W] 46 5 48
161HAE I T # 55 -

Group
|

2010 2009
SR EE CREAAE
HKS$°000 HK$’000
BT BT T
660 660
6,589 3,728
282 276
6,871 4,004
7,531 4,664

(a) BVIERAT PR

FRNCHRTHEILEATERFZEE
LU

CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John BRI
LUI Shing Ming, Brian b W

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2009: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. w4 (4E)
(continued)
(b) Executive directors (b) AT H G
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration

Widr o WM Bk
e REDHR ZB% HmAs
HK$000 ~ HK$°000  HK$’000 HKS$’000

#WToL  #FTo #FTrx BN T

2010 e S 212
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen wpEy 120 2,880 12 3,012
Takeshi NOMAGUCHI Lig il 60 1,841 72 1,973
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SCKFE 60 1,230 125 1,415
YIP Wai Keung ERR 60 - 3 63
TSE Siu Wan A £ 60 - 3 63
LAI Yuk Chuen HER 60 638 64 762
TAI Chun Leung WER 60 —~ 3 63
480 6,589 282 7,351
2009 —ERNA
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen o 120 - 6 126
Takeshi NOMAGUCHI Lg iy 60 1,860 72 1,992
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SCK R 60 1,230 125 1,415
YIP Wai Keung B [t o 60 — 3 63
TSE Siu Wan A £ 60 — 3 63
LAI Yuk Chuen RER 60 638 64 762
TAI Chun Leung BER 60 - 3 63
480 3,728 276 4,484
* Included in the above salaries, allowances and * RGN Bt 4e - BB R E YA
benefits in kind is a discretionary bonus of 75 75 I 1 16 412,880,000% 76 (=
HK$2,880,000 (2009: Nil). BRI - ) o
There was no arrangement under which a director BN o & T N S AR PR AT T 2 PR 3
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during B B EERM S (CRFILE .
the year (2009: Nil). fiE) o
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2009: three) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of
the remaining one (2009: two) non-director, highest paid
employee for the year are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits B4 I R E YA
in kind
Pension scheme contributions R N P T

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 F Wt £1,000,000% 70

10. INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group had adequate tax losses available for utilisation
against assessable profits generated in Hong Kong during
the current and prior years.

A % P e v D

4 P o B T B R L3 o
(CRBAE: 2 REEFZWE
REM ESCHE RS o g — B (CBBA
G ¢ ) 3 25 Tt O 2 T
R F

Group
£

2010 2009
“R-RE ZBBAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT o
623 980
58 91
681 1,071

JE 3 L W = R B 4 A T 5 AL
ZHH :

Number of employees

W B 2
2010 2009
~% %% ZRBAE
1 2

10. 7 13 Bt

F 7 AR 4 T EL A 4y # A JEJE 4 DL IR
ACAE B R LA FEUR A U 2 HE R B v A
PRI 1k S 48 A1 A 48 0 4 B 488 44

Group
e G|
2010 2009
R R4 ZERRIAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT o
Current — Hong Kong B — 75 W
Overprovision in prior years 2 A B R A - (25)
Deferred (note 28) WEIE (Hf 7E28) 2,272 (1,817)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year AR HABLIE T () 2,272 (1,842)
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which

the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense/(credit) at the effective tax
rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e., the
statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rate, are as follows:

Profit before tax i Bt i ¥4 )
Less: Share of profits and losses W s A B A ] A
of associates )q s

31 March 2010 —ZZE—Z2F=H=+—H

10. Ji 7388 (%)

PR A 4 T R M A B2 R 4 /] B A D
W 2 B R G R B B
Wil i ) 2 A JH 52t e LR R B R G 2
BLIE X7 (G %) B IR - DA JE Bl &
(B Al ) B BBl R Z AR T

WRHEW L ERRI6.5%5 B

Tax at the Hong Kong statutory

rate of 16.5% Z BiIH
Effect on opening deferred tax of 2T R S 4 ) 2 A B T
decrease in rates 2

I Y] 2 BUAT B JH = o 4

Adjustment in respect of current tax
of previous periods

Income not subject to tax WH R B Z WA

Expenses not deductible for tax A ] A B T 10 Ik 32 HY

Tax losses utilised from ) FH 208 43 39 T 2 A 3 s 4R
previous periods

Tax losses not recognised AW R Z B IE s R

Others HoAty

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s  FEANEEEBEARLH
effective rate (H& %) Z Bl I

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting
to HK$4,832,000 (2009: HK$4,626,000) is included
in “Share of profits and losses of associates” in the
consolidated income statement.

mNERBREEZRARRA -

Group
£ |

2010 2009
CEEE CFFAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT EW T
46,547 14,074
(24,989) (29,930)
21,558 (15,856)
3,557 (2,616)

- 145
. (25)
(341) (198)

80 371
(1,075) 4)

- 1,152
51 (667)
2,272 (1,842)

JRE Adi B 2% A W] 2 B JE J£4,832,000% T (=
FREIE : 4,626,000 78) CBIFERNEE
Wk 2 [ HEAG T 2 A w] e F) R s A o

—E-2HEER
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31 March 2010 = 2—Z2F=A=+—H

11.

12.

13.

FOUR SEAS FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED e

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2010 includes
a profit of HK$42,000 (2009: HK$29,000) which has been
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note
31(b)).

DIVIDENDS

Interim — HK1.0 cent
(2009: HK1.0 cent) per
ordinary share
Proposed final — HK3.0 cents
(2009: HK3.0 cents) per
ordinary share

) — g I A e 1. 0% il
(ZFFJU4E : 1.0%#Al)

(ZFFIJLA : 3.0%1l)

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of HK$44,275,000
(2009: HK$15,916,000), and on the 259,586,000 (2009:
259,586,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 March
2010 and 2009 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during those
years.

ANNUAL REPORT 2010

R R Y] — B 4 B 3.0 il

11.

12.

13.

A 2w B A A S A ik A

BE Z-ZE=A=Z=+—HILFEEZ
A ) HE R TR RE AL AF A A RS
42,0009 70 (ZFF L4 £ 29,000 78) Z
e A > B A A ] 2 B s B
#E31(b)) °

JBe
2010 2009
e A A ZERNE
HK$°000 HK$’000
T HHT T
2,596 2,596
7,788 7,788
10,384 10,384

A AR R 2 R Y e B R AR A W] 2
JoE P OB AR R L SRR A AR O AR

A 2y w3 A 4R B AT A RE A
I £ 4

(Y NS DR R NG S o N R S T
HE 25 BT A & ME A% %5 F144,275,000% 70 (=
FEIAFE 15,916,000 8) » RENE
B 47 3% 58 259,586,000 (B EJULE :
259,586,000/ ) 715 o

HRAEHMBEE_F-FER_EFL
=A==t Bk AR I BB A
B2 CBAT A - P U Sl 5 3
5OH W AR T B8 2 ik A A



14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT

Group

31 March 2010

At 31 March 2009 and
at 1 April 2009:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Net carrying amount

At 1 April 2009, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Additions

Depreciation provided
during the year

At 31 March 2010, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 31 March 2010:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Net carrying amount

CR-RESELH

REZBAEZA=Z4—H
REZFFNENA A :
Bk
Rt R

I

REZFFAENA-H
RElEE FEy Y e

e

ERCREIE

REZ-FE=A=4-H
BB R AT Rhda

REF-FEZA=1-H:
BA
Rt B R

W

Buildings

L 2
HK$'000

#W T

66,318
(17425)

48,893

41,315

66,318
(18,943)

41375

Notes to Financial Statements

Br 15 8 & MY RE

31 March 2010 Z2—2F=A=+—H

14. Y1 3 ~ W g B vk i

Leasehold
improvements,
furniture

and fixtures
Ny S
%6 B
REE
HK$’000

#W T

358

(326)

39

3317
(3.279)

39

THERREZRER 2 S

£ L

Motor
vehicles

i
HK$ 000
#H T

9429
(3,711)

5,718

5,718
230

(1,150)

4,198

Computer
systems

EWAR
HK$'000

#W T

2,862
@ny

141

141
18

2,880

(2,795)

Office

equipment Total
2 4 it
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT #HTT
970 82,889
(895) (27,704)

75 55,185

75 55,185

6 261

(33) (3,101)

48 52,345

976 83,150

(928) (30,805)

48 52,45

c—z-s5858% 95
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31 March 2010 = 2—Z2F=A=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group

31 March 2009

At 1 April 2008:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Net carrying amount

At 1 April 2008, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Additions

Depreciation provided
during the year

At 31 March 2009, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 31 March 2009:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Net carrying amount

“RRAEENELH
“ERFNENR-R

Bk
R R

W0

REZFFNENA—H
RIS GE YL

RE

ERCRE

REZFAE=A=F-H>

RIS iR Y

REZFAEZA=ZS-R:

B
Rt il R

Wi

Buildings

L&
HK$'000
#W T

66,318
(15,907)

50,411

48,893

66,318
(17,425)

48,893

14. ¥ ~ B Bk s (74)

Leasehold
improvements,
furniture

and fixtures
HERT
%0 R
RER
HK$'000

#W T

3310
(2,627)

683

683

(325)

358

3310
(2,952)

358
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£ L

Motor
vehicles

it
HK$'000

#H T

4,629
(2,573)

2,056

2,056
4,800

5718

9,429
(3,711)

5718

Computer
systems

HKS$'000

#W T

2,768
(2,641)

127

127
94

141

2,862
(2,721)

141

Office
equipment

HK$'000
#WTx

980

(880)

15

970
(895)

75

Total

Mt
HK$'000
#WTx

78,005
(24,628)

53311

3331
4916

(3,108)

55,185

82,889
(27,704)

35,185



31 March 2010 —ZZ2—ZF=HA=+—H

15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15, T AT 4 3 A 5 5k |

Group
e L |
2010 2009
R R “EEIE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 April AU H—H Z B E 30,630 31,200
Recognised during the year 4 N Tl 7R (570) (570)
Carrying amount at 31 March RE=H=Z+—H Z B E 30,060 30,630
Current portion included in WIS EARE ~ &
prepayments, deposits and T Al JE WK T =2 3 )
other receivables B 43 (570) (570)
Non-current portion Ik it B &6 4 29,490 30,060
As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s prepaid land lease NR_F—FEZH=+—H  KEHZ
payments are situated in Hong Kong and are held under T AT - B AR AL R W R T
the following lease terms: HAFFA :
HK$’000
BT T
Long term leases R 9,505
Medium term leases AL A 20,555
30,060

mHERREERAERLAA o —2—=2558% 097



31 March 2010 =2 —Z2F=A=+—H

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. 77 B )& 2 ) Z B 4
Company
Al

2010 2009

“%BE CEEAE

HKS$’000 HK$’000

W T BT

Unlisted shares, at cost Ik B Bty > R BAME 39,004 39,004
Loans to subsidiaries BT HHE AR ZBERK 172,176 203,267
211,180 242,271
Impairment * A (9,049) (9,049)
202,131 233,222

# An impairment of HK$9,049,000 was recognised for an unlisted investment # F R A TR B o ) R < R T L A T i el
with a carrying amount of HK$12,049,000 (before deducting the impairment 44> PR O R A %% 12,049,0009 6 (311 B 9 A 5

loss) (2009: HK$12,049,000) because the carrying amount of the investment B (ZFFIAE ¢ 12,049,000% 50) 2 # T i

in the subsidiary exceeded its recoverable amount as estimated by the 1 % i e 3R IR AK9,049,00095 G © AR K RAEPE »

directors. There was no change in the impairment account during the current A MR I A T o

and prior years.

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in AR 2 ) i B A U B B AR N B A E K
the Company’s current assets and current liabilities of T WE AT B A R 3% 3 43 B £5376,000% o
HK$376,000 (2009: HK$340,000) and HK$11,399,000 (ZFZIAE : 340,000 75) 511,399,000
(2009: HK$32,102,000), respectively, are unsecured, Wt (ZEZIAE ¢ 32,102,000850) »
interest-free and repayable on demand. Fy FEHCH ~ o B R A BB MR o

The loans to subsidiaries included in interests in £ 55 b At BB A W 2 R AR N A T S
subsidiaries above are unsecured, interest-free and have no O E) Z 8K R~ B K I [ RE
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors, A EER L ZEFERRBEM LS
these advances are considered as quasi-equity loans to the T Pt A\l Z JRLRE 2R B K o
subsidiaries.
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16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

16

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of

registration

Name and operations

# % e B S

Capital Season Investments British Virgin

Limited Islands/

Hong Kong

e ) A eiid

g

Hung King Development Hong Kong

Limited o
WA AF

William Food Company Hong Kong

Limited o
Wwd & A RA F

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary

share capital
R £y
W B

JBe A% i L

US$1
1370

HK$400,000

400,000 7T

HK$10,000,000
10,000,000 76

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result

in particulars of excessive length.

MmN ERBREEZRARAA -

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—ZF=HA=+—H

R B 2 vl 2 R ()

FEEME AR Z BT -
Percentage
of equity
attributable
to the Company Principal
Direct Indirect activities
7 4 ) AN
L E- NP
H % 1A $%& FEREH
— 100.0 Investment
holding
B B
- 100.0 Property
holding
WERH
100.0 - Trading of

frozen meats,
seafood and
vegetables
HXE 5

b B 5 A AR AR
M B R R A Z W A E] o
=5 2 wF 5 LAt B )RS 2 ) 7 B R A8 4y
TR e

—TE-2HEFER

99



31 March 2010 =2 —Z2F=A=+—H

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Share of net assets
Goodwill on acquisition

Market value of listed shares

Goodwill
[k 4

Cost and carrying amount at
1 April

Acquisition of additional interests
in the associates

Cost and carrying amount
at 31 March

WA ¥ 8 M
W B A 2

BT By Z T

DY H — H Z A B i i
W B B 2% 2 ] R O B 2

REA=Z+—HZ AR
R T

The amounts due from associates included in the Group’s
current assets are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

For the purpose of determining whether goodwill is
impaired, the recoverable amount of goodwill is based
on the value in use. The Group estimates the value in
use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated by discounting the expected future dividends
to be received. The discounting rate applied for the
estimation was the average cost of financing to the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group acquired
additional interests of 0.35% in Four Seas Mercantile
Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”), an associate of the Group,
at an aggregate purchase consideration of HK$2,646,000
and recognised a gain on acquisition of additional interests
in an associate of HK$800,000 in the consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 March 2010.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, FSMHL re-
purchased and cancelled certain of its ordinary shares.
As a result, the Group’s interests in FSMHL increased
by 0.65%, and the Group recognised a gain on deemed
acquisition of additional interests in an associate of
HK$1,111,000 in the consolidated income statement for

the year ended 31 March 2010.
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17. A W66 48 2 vl Z B 4

Group
3L
2010 2009
SRR ZERBEBNE
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T or
298,387 278,198
12,364 12,364
310,751 290,562
293,832 273,230
2010 2009
R R BB
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT o T or
12,364 12,333
- 31
12,364 12,364
B3GR A 4R B 2 B R N 2 R W
Oy R FKVE B SR ~ S B M R BRI o
AE B 2E 7 B A WA > R 2 R IR K
5 %R AL T € o A AR I 75 2 O M
BV HHIF T MR BB o DA R R R A
Bl 4 g th W 2 A8 B AE o 8 P R IR
Z WG BLR T A SR [H] 2 F 35 il & A o
BE_R-FFE=ZH=+—HILHEE
A2 [ W i A AR R A ] DY N 4R B A
R W] (7Y i 46 1 1) 2 % 4h0.35% HE 4 »
JiE B4 AR 2,646,000 76 0 I T &
BECR-RE=ZA=ZF—HILEEZE
G W gk 2% N e R L IO\ T 2 A W] B A RE
5 Z W 25800,000% 7T ©
BEZ-BE=A=1+—HILEE U
DH A5 13 38 [0 S e 8 L 3% % - R >
A 45 [H] 5 DY 9 48 [ 2> BE 25 48 0.65% - 3
CRBRE_F-FE=HA=+—HIL4
BE 2 556 W 2 2% TN THE B2 ks B AN AE I O\ T
w0\ A FAME RS 2 W 281,111,000 G ©



(continued)

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

Name
%W

Four Seas Mercantile
Holdings Limited
VY P £ B AR 2 H]

Fancy Talent Limited*

TR A I

Four Seas Mercantile
Limited

VY B 5 A R A T

Four Seas Foods
(Shantou) Co., Ltd.*
9 £ s (Il BE)
AR A W] *

Hong Kong Biscuit
(International)
Limited*

H O aL (B BE)
A B2 )

Hong Kong Ham
Holdings Limited

A 8 B g 47 Bt
AR A

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Particulars

of issued
shares held
A OB
B By Z ¥ 1

Ordinary shares

of HK$0.10 each
B Ji THi
0.10% 78 Z 5 18 Jik

Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each
i Ji THi
1370 2 W 8 B

(i) Ordinary shares

of HK$100 each

(ii) Non-voting
deferred shares

of HK$100 each
()% J i fE
100¥ 7T Z ¥ 48 i
(i) 5 JB T L 100% T
29 A R R A T Ay

Paid-up capital

of HK$71,000,000
O AR e AR
71,000,000%5 76

Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each
B Ji THi
130 2 8 i

Ordinary shares

of HK$10 each

B Ji THi

109 78 Z ¥ 8 B

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—ZF=HA=+—H

17. A B A vl 2 B s (48)

#EEEE AR R T

Percentage

of ownership

Place of interest
incorporation/ attributable Principal
registration to the Group activities

vl W S, 7 4 18 ME A
Xl o L E iR FERH
Cayman Islands 29.49 Investment
BH 2 holding
BB
Hong Kong 29.49 Marketing of
s snack foods
AN 22 T 3 4
Hong Kong 29.49 Trading in
7 snack foods,
confectionery
and beverages
N BER
Bt i 2 ¥ 5
People’ s Republic 29.49 Trading in
of China (“PRC”) confectionery
LI YN e I and food
(T ) products
BlER K
BMmZH S
Hong Kong 29.27 Investment
iYL holding
BB Ik
Hong Kong 29.49 Manufacturing
s and packaging
of ham and
ham-related
products
BUE R w3
K58 B A B
KBRS E b

mHNERREEZRARA2A
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31 March 2010 =2 —FF=A=+—8

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. A B A 2 B (51)
(continued)
Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: B EEBEESNAEEENT - (8)
(continued)
Percentage
of ownership
Particulars Place of interest
of issued incorporation/ attributable Principal
Name shares held registration to the Group activities
A C#HfT Wl W s 7 48 18 ME A
£ 1 JBe By Z ¥ 4 Xl o L E-Yipidia EX-E 37
J.P. Inglis Company Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.49 Trading in
Limited of HK$10 each s food materials
JeF L AT A A E B I v A 5B 5
10978 Z 3% 78 it
Kung Tak Lam Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.19 Restaurant
Shanghai Vegetarian of HK$1 each R operations
Cuisine Limited i Ji i BERE
HiEk LR A 138 70 2 ¥ 18 it
A B2 F
Li Fook (Qingdao) Paid-up capital PRC 29.49 Manufacturing
Foods Co., Ltd.* of US$3,320,000 3 of noodles
M (EE) &R C 42 e AR Ji 0
A R 2 7]+ 3,320,0003¢ 0
New Kondo Trading Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.49 Trading in
Company Limited of HK$1 each B Japanese food
R 5 A R A 5 B v A materials
13870 2 % 8 i H A £ fh
R 5
& Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of the Ernst * 3 I p A o 4 oK B T A K A B AR A At
& Young global network. 2 A=PANEE: 3

Rk s 2 PN R
B R A R A 2 B A ] e
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the O R B A I o w] A A W
net assets of the Group. To give details of other associates By o0 o B A B 8 oy R 35 e AR 4 ] R
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars ERE S

of excessive length. All associates were indirectly held by

the Company.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
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17.

18.

19.

20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
(continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the Group’s associates extracted from its
financial statements:

Assets &
Liabilities =i
Revenues WA
Profit it 1]
OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSET

The club debenture represents an entrance fee paid for the
use of club facilities and is held on a long term basis.

INVENTORIES

Finished goods JEE B fih
TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables JRE W B 5 MR Ak
Impairment WA

Notes to Financial Statements

Br 15 8 & MY RE

31 March 2010 Z2—2F=A=+—H

17. W 8 A v 2 B A (AF)

T RSP E A G WS A E M

gk < A B BB 2 -
2010 2009
R ZERRNAE
HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T T o
2,163,798 2,086,086
1,142,127 1,092,247
2,347,582 2,290,626
86,440 105,048
3 =
18. 0 il Ik i ) % it

& B AR 27 48 O 1 B el T S A 2 A5

T WL RMIEAERA o

19. # 1
Group
e |
2010 2009
e S 2.8 “REIE
HK$’°000 HK$’000
BT BT T
78,955 65,452
20. HE e B2 50 ek
Group
£
2010 2009
“R-BE CREBAS
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T
44,944 58,490
(735) (434)
44,209 58,056

=

NERREEZRARA2A
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31 March 2010 =2 —Z2F=A=+—H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are
mainly on credit, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required. The credit
period is generally for a period of one to three months.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
impairment provisions, is as follows:

Within 1 month MEH &
1 to 2 months 132218 H
Over 2 months 2M@ H YL L

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

At 1 April W H—H
Impairment losses recognised L e 2 ik £ M 4H
(note 7) (K aE7)

Amount written off as uncollectible %1 4 8 ¥k W 1] 2 3 8 7k I8

At 31 March BR=H=+—H
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20. MW B 5 Bk (%)

AEHBEEFZHGRBUFES E
BT B P — B R o £ BN —
ek —Z=M0H - FH%EFHAHHEEH
EBR o AR [ g 3R A 4 ) L R IR
Z WEWCRIE » A I 175 50 bRl it o 22 Joe 1K o
Te A A B R 0 A OE ) A i o B b
a1 > DL A 4R T 2 M W B S B sk B
V|- SEE N NS A N
fa AR PR o B B IRHTIRE

TP 0 OR > MR B ST H N % A0 B A
B < W Z IRk Z IR B A AT I

Group
£ |

2010 2009
—F R “EFZhE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
33,124 46,755
11,050 9,225
35 2,076
44,209 58,056

BB S AR 2 8 2 B L 01

Group
|

2010 2009
SR EE CREAAE
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
434 =
1,271 434
(970) -
735 434



20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$735,000 (2009: HK$434,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of HK$735,000 (2009:
HK$434,000). The individually impaired trade receivables
relate to customers that were in default or delinquency in
payments and are not expected to be recovered. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not
considered to be impaired is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired N 48 761 3 =k A
Less than 1 month past due 73 A i L A

1 to 2 months past due A E 2 H
Over 2 months past due A2 fE A A

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances.

mHERREEZRARA

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—ZF=HA=+—H

20. MW B 5 Bk sk (%)

b Al R W B B R AR 2 B A A RS
M T 3 MH %5735,0009% € (R ILLE
434,000 70 ) = 11 1] HE W B 5 HR 3k AR H R
fE R #5735,000% 76 (ZFF LA : 434,000
Wot) o H BN K P Z 5 O E 2 ik
B 5 W Ak T Ky A BHE R K > B B
By N ] W] o A 4R [ N S R iZ A A AR R
A AR HCH S s A R A o

8 R AR Z HE W B 5 MRk 2 B i 23 A
mE

Group
£ L]

2010 2009
SRBE CRRAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T W T
44,055 55,289
118 1,599
30 718
6 450
44,209 58,056

S 06 76 19 sk ol fE 2 M Wk T v T i AT )
BRI KREAFEF -

O 780 191 45 Sif R 3k =2 HE W B 5 Ak T &
AELEHEETRERLBEREZEF -
WA EER R > HREEHBZ
i BB 3R 0 e K B ) o %S A AR S A
A T 2 MRS IE] o kS J AR SRR 1B A o
A 55 [ SN SR A S A B R A AT AT HE A
B A5 B4R T -
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21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 21. T A 5% ~ 51 4 2 H b i Uk
OTHER RECEIVABLES K JH
Group Company
] A
2010 2009 2010 2009

“E-RE ZEFAFE —F -4 ZFEFAF
HK$’000  HK$°000  HK$000  HKS$’000
#YTIL EFTET EBWFTIT AY¥FTT

Prepayments FE AT kO 1,136 973 125 125
Deposits and other receivables & 4 & - filt & Wit 5k I8 1,578 554 5 5
2,714 1,527 130 130
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. b A E M N S o RS AR
The financial assets included in the above balances relate A g B 5 T B8 AR 8k 2 MEWGKIE -
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default.
22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR 22. 35 A P16 7% 8 3 s A R i &
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR B A
LOSS
Group
L]
2010 2009
R R ZERRJE
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T
Listed equity investments, L RERRE
at market value: WA
Hong Kong Fis 15,677 15,983
The above equity investments at 31 March 2009 and 2010 R —ZFRAUER R -RE=ZNH
were classified as held for trading. =+ —HZHERBE W E AR
"5 -
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2.8 e RBEeSHEH
Group Company
'y Al
2010 2009 2010 2009

SE - CRBAE F G SRR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
RWTL EEFT  RWTL  EEFT

Cash and bank balances Bl& R BRITHF 36,619 29,272 165 124
Time deposits 7E W17 3K 31,466 31,617 = -
Cash and cash equivalents Bl KBl e EEE 68,085 60,889 165 124
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on SRAT B & g H RAT A SR K DL B A
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are R e IR B o K E W AR AT —
made for varying periods of between one day and fourteen HZEWHZAF Y EAES > 8P AR4E
days depending on the immediate cash requirements of B Z B REBL 4 7% oK o R B4 B 2 M
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term R B AE KA R PRI o AT A BRI A
time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with i Sl A 0 0 2 A e LA R B R AT o
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 24, HEAT U5 Wik B 28 9%
An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the RHREHAR HEBSEHHZENES
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is MRk e F R Z MR A s B T -
as follows:
Group
e G|
2010 2009
e S 2.8 “EREBIE
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT W F o
Within 1 month KEDERY] 47,531 27,644
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are W& AT B 55 Bk 2% S B & — I #2302 60 H
normally settled on terms of 30 to 60 days. T RR &5 4 -
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25. OTHER PAYABLES AND

26

25, Ll JE Aok sk D B it £143

ACCRUALS
Group Company
£ A
2010 2009 2010 2009
R -RE _FEFNE —F-F4E FFELE
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HK$’000
BWTLC BE¥EFT #BWTIL E¥FTFC
Other payables JH At JRE A R T 12,015 6,926 - -
Accruals &5 AR 5,650 5,392 512 481
17,665 12,318 512 481
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an HE N FZE AR E Y FH A=
average term of three months. A -
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 26. 75 4 4 b TR
INSTRUMENT
Liabilities
fifi
2010 2009
“% % CRBAE
Group HK$’000 HK$’000
AL BT T BT T
Forward currency contract 2 A I A A - 35
As at 31 March 2010, the Group had no forward currency R_F—FE=H=+—H » REHF
contract outstanding. As at 31 March 2009, the carrying W RBITZEBAESL - R TR
amount of the forward currency contract was the same as WEZHA=Z+—H > ZHIESLHZE
its fair value. The above transaction involving a derivative MR EZ A FEMEE - &N ESE
financial instrument was with a creditworthy financial B TH 22355 HAE R B2 4 e
institution. The Group entered into a forward currency AT o AEEH ET A & AN E G 4 DL
contract to manage its exchange rate exposures which HORRE A B vh & 5 AR e 2 RE 2R B o R
did not meet the criteria for hedge accounting. There was WA RAETHWZ BB A TH
no change in the fair value of this non-hedging currency ZFE N ) (ZFRRIILE R
derivative during the year (2009: Fair value gain of i AN FE K £5609,0008 J5) ©

HK$609,000 credited to the income statement).
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
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1 March 2010 —Z2—2F=A=+—H

27. ST R B 2 84T B

BORROWINGS
2010 2009
R4 ZRBNE
Effective Effective
interest interest
Group rate Maturity HK$’000 rate  Maturity  HK$’000
S H HBA% #MWMA EWFTIL BEEMNE FMH  BETI
Current W
Trust receipt loans IEHEIR A5 1-2 months 2-3 months
— unsecured W B3 0.89% 12N 56,981 1.47%  2-3fA 92,488

All trust receipts loans are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and bear interest at floating interest rates.

28. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during

the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

Group - 2010

At 1 April 2009
Deferred tax charged

to the income statement
during the year (note 10)

At 31 March 2010

Fit A A7 W6 WA 0 Bk DA T B > S R
A RFER o

28. 4B %iE B M

RAENIEEREA MR EREZEBHWT -

W % e £ 4
Bl - R4
Losses available
Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
W JH DA BN 2k
e K =2 N 11 st
HKS$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT
RoRRZNENA—H 1,608 (967) 641
AR BE T W 25 3R 9 4 B
ZBERLIE (KM 7E10)
125 115 240
RoF-FRE=ZA=+—H 1,733 (852) 881

mHNERREEZRARA2A
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Group - 2010

At 1 April 2009
Deferred tax charged

to the income statement
during the year (note 10)

At 31 March 2010

Deferred tax liabilities

Group - 2009

At 1 April 2008
Deferred tax charged

to the income statement
during the year (note 10)

At 31 March 2009

28. FESE BE (%)

IE SiE B I X At
B - —F R4

Losses available

Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits
L8 ¥
T 28 A HE 3R e ik A
Uit 1681 2 6 17
HK$°000 HK$’000
W T BT
HEFFNAENA—H (252) 5,245
A4 PE A W2 R N 0 BR
ZIEFEBLIE (Mt 10)
(608) (1,424)
R-R—FRE=ZH=1—H (860) 3,821
HE % B 11
B - —FFILE
Losses available
Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits
] FH DA B AR
o 72 A e R A i )
g 5 2 i |
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T
HoFF)NEMA—H 1,572 (1,146)
AR AR BE T W AR 3R 9 4T R
ZIEFEBLIE (Mt 10)
36 179
NR-EEZNE=ZH=+—H 1,608 (967)
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T

4,993

(2,032)
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Total
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At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$39,125,000 (2009: HK$48,795,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits
of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of the tax losses
of approximately HK$10,804,000 (2009: HK$11,147,000)
as, in the opinion of the directors, it is uncertain whether
sufficient future taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

At the end of the reporting period, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2009: Nil) for taxes
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the
Group’s subsidiaries or associates.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

28. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 28. 3B %t B M (47)
Deferred tax assets B % BN A
Group - 2009 Bl - —RFILE
Losses available
Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
a] F DA BRI AR
i 32 A5 T JE R Hi A
e i i) 7| “a st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT V.3 e
At 1 April 2008 REFR)NFEMYH—H (447) 3,408 2,961
Deferred tax credited AAEPE IR RN FEA
to the income statement Z R IR IE (M AE10)
during the year (note 10) 195 1,837 2,032
At 31 March 2009 R_ERZNE=ZA=1T—H (252) 5,245 4,993

RHREHK  AEHEFEBFBELEZRHR
JE 5 15 £939,125,000% 76 (=R L
48,795,000%5 o) B I B HH H AR HK 00 5%
FHBLEEZ A R Z 8%k R A A -
B B 410,804,000 T (ZFF LA ¢
11,147,000% o) Z Fi JE &5 15 3 0 7 58 2
& A AT Bt 4K 1 BE B s 18 A A% Bk HE SR B iR
A AW B o

A 55 ) 2 T R 2 W) S I A ) i
R 4 TR MR BIE R B (2
Fh4E &) -

A2 VIR 8% BB T B R 2 A kOl A P
B A -
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29.

30.

SHARE CAPITAL
Shares
Authorised: VE
400,000,000 ordinary shares of 400,000,000 /8% 4 1t 1 fE
HK$0.10 each 0.10% T Z 3% 48 Jit
Issued and fully paid: BT R
259,586,000 ordinary shares of 259,586,000 % & B% 1 {A
HK$0.10 each 0.10% 0 =z 35 78 it

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are
included in note 30 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Company, and any executive director or employee of
any of the Company’s subsidiaries and any entity in which
the Group holds any equity interest.

The Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years
up to 16 September 2012 after which no further share
options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects.
Share options complying with the provisions of the Listing
Rules which are granted during the period of the Scheme
and those remain unexercised immediately prior to the end
of the 10-year period shall continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of grant as within the share
option period for which such share options are granted,
notwithstanding the expiry of the Scheme.
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29.

2010

—2 %4
HKS$’000

T T

40,000

25,959

Jik JBe i

2009
“EFLE
HK$’000
# T T

40,000

25,959

A2 W) 2 B P R N SRR S

Pt 5830 o

30. Jik JBe HE it 5

A 2 ) A T e b ) (Tt 1) # B
B % 151 i 7K 55 P O S UA ST B ERR
ZEEWZME SHEZEEK 2 HE
BREAAF ZNATEF - B IENATE
%~ (B B B A A v MR A ) B AS 45 ) B
AT e < R AT R -

Bl Z AR A 4 E2F 2R
H A B %1k o JA&N A & 8832 AL
Ji T B > AHGH B Z K S AR A3 e B
P ol LI 3 S A oy i B
A2 = o (B A S 0 RO R
WAT B S T R > A3 T % % S M BE 952
I Z R AEAT B > 6 A 32wt E W R



30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an
amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 24,782,000
ordinary shares, being 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue on 2 September 2002 (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”). The Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed to
25,533,600, being 10% of the shares in issue as at the date
of annual general meeting of 2004. As at the date of this
report, the total number of shares available for issue under
the Scheme is 25,533,600 ordinary shares, representing
10% of the total number of shares in issue on 2 September
2004, the effective date of refreshment. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates,
are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors of the Company (excluding an
independent non-executive director who is a grantee of the
share options). In addition, any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of each grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—Z2F=H=+—H

30. Jok B B it = ()

H B AR 48 51 #5326 oR AT 6 B
BE 2 5 9 B %524,782,000/8¢ 35 38 & - AH
ERANFE_RFAENLA_HOHE
TR Z210% ([ & 2 REBR 4 1) - 51 #1
¥ BE B 4 © W7 £525,533,6008 > i =&
FWERRBAFERGHBP BT REZ
10% o A b %88 0O » AR 48 5t ) w4t
B AT 2 A 0 H #525,533,600 8 3% 48 it
I ZFRWNENLH ZHEHZERA
CBAT IR 82 10% AT+ M H
HEN s E TR A NZES S
ER2HEEBITZHEGRMBEE RSB
HAS oy W) FEAEAT B 2 CB AT IR 2 1% o
] 2 — 25 432 W8 ot PR AR 2 I I BE
HI) 78 AE I oK & L BRI R A v o

BYPAAFER  BEBRRLNEZE
iy Mg B A ko 2 B J A o o S A AR
H M L AT A (o 2 T
IR B E AT EF ARG HAEN) o I
b s AEAL T+ A A TN R T AR A
ZEEBREE L IEAATE > A
Z AT A g B N e 2 A B R R A A A
B AT A IR ] 2 AT A Z20.19% &% 3
RS (2% Hh i Je bR o L = B W i Bt
) @ E Eu o E > W e BOR
N ERIEEY KR
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer, upon receipt of
the duplicate offer letter with the acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the grantee and the number of shares
in respect of which the offer is accepted clearly stated
therein, together with payment of a nominal consideration
of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company provided that
no offer shall be open for acceptance after the expiry
of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated.
The terms and conditions of the share options granted
are determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis.
Such terms and conditions may include, but are not limited
to (i) the subscription price; (ii) the period within which
the Company’s shares must be taken up under the share
option, which must not be more than 10 years from the
offer date; (iii) the minimum period, if any, for which a
share option must be held before it can be exercised; and
(iv) the performance target, if any, that must be achieved
before the share option can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the directors at their absolute discretion at the time of
the making of the offer which shall be stated in the letter
containing the offer, but may not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s daily
quotation sheet on the offer date which must be a trading
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five trading days immediately preceding the offer
date; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share option (2009: Nil) was granted
to the directors and other employees of the Company or
employees of any of the Company’s subsidiaries and any
entities in which the Group holds any equity interests.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no
share options outstanding under the Scheme (2009: Nil).
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¥ H W T HE 2 S T AR Y O R
ZHBEF ZHNH NERES KZA
IR R I AR © % B 0 12 M e TR RE
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L] 1 0 A T A R o R R
Z EER o S BB AE 0 B RE ST ) E T el &
1k H AR 2 48 o BT 1% 2 i HE 2 R K
Wi # 5 o E > A B R B S A FRRG)
Jie B W2 BT 5 (i) IR R 2 AT B YT o BT RR
S BB A I B 42 th BT RE S AR 5 i)
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Fe(iv)ZR Bl H B > 2 83K 47 15 1 It A i
HIEBZEBHE (W) -
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31. RESERVES 31. i i
(a) Group (a) M
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the AREEAEEN K LEEZ HERE

movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 46 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for
Foreign Investment Enterprises, a portion of the
profits of the Group’s associates operating as Foreign
Investment Enterprises in Mainland China has been
transferred to the share of other reserves of associates.
As at 31 March 2010, the share of other reserves of
associates of HK$1,228,000 (2009: HK$1,369,000)

S50 ) A W 2 A6 L 2 B W 2
PELEYR

35 A BR A i B A 300 3 B A B
HI > pg A 45 [ 7 b Bk B DA A B
HEEHTABBZH S AT CHE
JE )LL) 98 A s R B o AN T s A
"z HMbEE N R —FEZH
=+ —H > 26 E A [ 2 H
5 %51,228,000% 6 (ZFEF LA :

is non-distributable in nature and can be utilised to
offset the losses incurred.

1,369,000 JC) » % A B 4 IR B ff 6
4> Wrl RIS P E A 2 B -

(b) Company (b) A7)
Share Capital
premium redemption Retained
account reserve profits Total
A i il
JBe i i A M it R 8 e Al Bt
Note HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000

Wit BT BT BT BT

At 1 April 2008 R ZFRNE
WH—H 90,557 579 86,705 177,841
Total comprehensive income ARAE A 2
for the year - - 29 29
Interim 2009 dividend ZEFNERHRE 12 - - (2,596) (2,596)
Proposed final 2009 dividend ZEFNEREADME 12 - - (1,788) (7,788)

At 31 March 2009 REZZFNFEZA=1+—H

and 1 April 2009 BZZZNENA—H 90,557 579 76,350 167,486
Total comprehensive income ARAE A2

for the year - - 42 42
Interim 2010 dividend ZER-REPHREE 12 - - (2,596) (2,596)
Proposed final 2010 dividend R FEEEALRE 12 — - (1,788) (1,788)
At 31 March 2010 R_Z—-FE==+—H 90,557 579 66,008 157,144
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32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities
not provided for in the financial statements were as

follows:
Guarantees given to banks in ] SR AT ¥ TR B B 2 )
connection with facilities Z AT fE &

granted to subsidiaries

As at 31 March 2010, the banking facilities granted to the
subsidiaries subject to guarantees given to the banks by
the Company were utilised to the extent of approximately
HK$56,981,000 (2009: HK$92,488,000).

33. OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS

The Group and the Company leases certain land and
buildings under operating lease arrangements. Leases are
negotiated for terms of one year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the
Company had total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

2. %KAM

T o I OR > MR B B B i o A
iz R BT

Company
A+
2010 2009
—F—FE “EFhE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT o
456,400 442,500

W R —BEZHA=Z+—H KAF N
WITERBARZRITEE  HOH
2 4% #) #56,981,0008 ¢ (—~FF L
4F 1 92,488,000% TC) ©

33. MB LA R

AREEBRAAFELCEHELHEHER
T ST o RERERE Z AR A —4F o

T R A TR 5 A 4R T R AR O AR B R R
AT 58 2 A8 A A TR T 51 39T R R A

Z B AR AR IEH W T ¢
Group Company
#M AL
2010 2009 2010 2009

“® R CRBAE 2 -RF _RIAE

Within one year —4ER
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) The Group had the following material transactions

(b)

with

its related parties during the year:

Rental and building Ii) [BH] 2L 2 ) WA L
management fees received Tt 2 45 P %
from related companies

Commission received from Ie) B 7 2w WO BA 4
an associate

Sales of goods to associates Ih) B 7 2 W) 8 B R

Transportation fees paid to Iv) I 78 2 W) S AT
an associate 7 i B

Commission expense paid to In) B 28 8 W) 32 AT 2
an associate 4 B %

Notes:

(1)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

Tenancy agreements were entered into with related parties on mutually
agreed terms. The leases can be extended and renewed until terminated

by either party.

The commission received was charged on normal commercial terms

and in the ordinary course of business.

The sales of goods to associates were made by reference to prices and

conditions similar to those offered to other customers.

The transportation fees charged by an associate were determined by

reference to the costs incurred by the associate.

The commission paid was charged on normal commercial terms and in

the ordinary course of business.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the amounts due from associates to the
Group at the end of the reporting period are included
in note 17 to the financial statements.

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—Z2F=A=+—H

M.BEANLRY
(a) 4 > AS 5 B A 1 3T S F A

HRRG :
2010 2009
R4 CREAE
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
M 7t BT T T
(i) 224 224
(ii) 151 267
(iii) 626 685
(iv) 30 92
(v) 68 =
()  FLE W B B4 7 SRR LS Z R
S o RA R IEI K E AT > HEMEM T PUR
JJ: o
() AW TR H 208 R v 4 — i i Sk
WeH -
(i) MBEEARSERLISF N EFREZ
500 A% A T R SE
Gv) T 2\ w1 B W iR =2 3 i 22 FH ) 2 2% W 0 ) Bt
B A 2 AR T S e
(v)  PRABASE T H % S0 R v 4 — v S
FAF o
(b) BEBHE AL Z M RMEELER

PHHBIAR > BEAFRBRAEEZ
AR REAG > O S e o B k7
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS M. BHEAN LR (H)

(continued)
(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the (c) ARGLHETFHABRZ M :
Group:
2010 2009
R % “REIE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Short term employee benefits R B A 7,869 5,008
Pension scheme contributions B AR 4t ) 2 Btk 364 358
Total compensation paid to key T [ £ & H A B X
management personnel Z T A A 8,233 5,366
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included e — R RUR B R
in note 8 to the financial statements. B kS o
The related party transactions set out in note 34(a) above b M RE34(a) B At 2 BN 38 5 i A
did not constitute connected transactions or continuing W R BR L AR B el R AR 5 (3% B B
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the HIBI4ATE TR T Z E#) °

Listing Rules.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY B[BABMTHZAH
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REMR » SFEH T HZIREMEWT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
2010 Group
R R £
Financial assets
2
Fair value through
profit or loss — Loans and
Held for trading receivables Total
FEEE A ek B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T W T T

Due from associates JRE W M 7 2 ] - 100 100
Trade receivables JRE W B 5 MR - 44,209 44,209
Financial assets included in BFG R FEAT RIE - T &
prepayments, deposits and T Al JE W MRk 2
other receivables (note 21) ERE E (M EE21) = 1,578 1,578
Financial assets at fair value A A M H 2 AR
through profit or loss Z R E 15,677 - 15,677
Cash and cash equivalents Bla KBl aEMEEE - 68,085 68,085
15,677 113,972 129,649

Financial liabilities

£ RER

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
35 Bk 95 A N\ Ve 1 4 1k £ A
HK$’000
BT
Trade and bills payables AT B 5 MR Ak B 5 % 47,531

Financial liabilities included in other payables A 35 Al JE A HR 5K % B it £
and accruals (note 25) Z &b B (B aE2s) 12,015
Interest-bearing bank borrowings R BT R B Z 84T B 56,981
116,527
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Fair value through

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3B[.A4AWMILTHRZ 8 ()
CATEGORY (continued)
2009 Group
“RFNAE e 15
Financial assets
&b ¥

profit or loss — Loans and
Held for trading receivables Total
FrEHE — A PHE =& 0
7R A AR JRE Wk A8
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT - i BT T
Due from associates JRE WL W 2 A ) = 97 97
Trade receivables JE Wi B 5 e sk — 58,056 58,056
Financial assets included in ARG AT S ~ 5T &
prepayments, deposits and T G Al JE W R sk 2
other receivables (note 21) SRbEE (K aE21) - 554 554
Financial assets at fair value AP EZBBRER AR
through profit or loss Z A RE A 15,983 = 15,983
Cash and cash equivalents BHehBH4EZSEEH - 60,889 60,889
15,983 119,596 135,579
Financial liabilities
o
Financial liability
at fair value Financial
through profit liabilities at
or loss amortised cost Total
WA CPEIE R T B 8
B ARZ BRARARK
b E AR bR %)
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o BT o BT o
Trade and bills payables FE A B ) HR sk B — 27,644 27,644
Financial liabilities included in A 455 Al JE A HR R S
other payables and JRE St A 2 4 kA AR
accruals (note 25) (K #t25) - 6,926 6,926
Derivative financial instrument 4w T H 35 = 35
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ZR BT R B Z SR AT B K = 92,488 92,488
35 127,058 127,093
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3B[aMLHZ A8 ()
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial assets
£ g
Company
Al
2010 2009
SEReEE CRRAE
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Due from subsidiaries JRE Wt BR )i 2 376 340
Financial assets included in BHE R EA R ~ W& &
prepayments, deposits and At JE WO 35k . 4 i
other receivables (note 21) (B #t21) 5 5
Cash and bank balances B&RBATH T 165 124
546 469
Financial liabilities
2 i £ 4%
Company
A |
2010 2009
SEeEE CERRAE
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
BRGNS AR A BR
1 4 Tk £ A Py 48 i £ R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT o
Due to subsidiaries JRE A5} Bt} J&§ A ) 11,399 32,102
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36. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:
Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which all inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which any inputs which have
a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs)

As at 31 March 2010, the Group held the following
financial instruments measured at fair value:

Assets measured at fair value as at 31 March 2010:

B E 7 M 1R 25
MR 2Z B 25 4% B

Equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss

During the year ended 31 March 2010, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements into or out of Level
3.

As at 31 March 2010, the Company did not hold any
financial instruments measured at fair value.
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AREEY TS REE SR TR
ZAFAE -
SN e MEBEAH IR G R ek A R AR S
B2 WAE (RES ) i 5t & 2
{5
BN WMEBHRAHEHEAFHEAE
M R M BEN
EORE A B A 6 3 T T R A
A
EEJE o WIEAREE B 0 5 R

LR R 3-8 % WANRIE-ISPI} =
AP BEE R Z Fh A
A A B 5 35 T it 2 SF- i

REF-FEZA=Z+—H o KAEE K
AUTEAFEFEZEMTH :

REB—REZJ = A — LT
2B

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
3 — e iy oy 5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BHFoL BT BT BETT
15,677 — — 15,677

RERE -2 RE=A =+ Bk
575 = S 0 S 2

REF-FEZA=Z+H—H > AAFE
ERAEEMUAATPHEGBZ SR TH -



37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings, and cash and short term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The Group also entered into derivative transactions,
including a forward currency contract. The purpose is
to manage the currency risk arising from the Group’s
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board
of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents and short term debt obligations with
floating interest rates.

The Group’s funding policy uses short term interest-
bearing debts to finance its working capital requirements.
The Group borrows mainly at floating interest rates.

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—Z2F=H=+—H

37. S5 b B 4 P H B e i oR

AR 2 3B Al TR ZE B R B
Z HRAT Bk M B A K I R A A e
FEMTHAZIEMBRIAARAERZE
T o A AR I MM B MR R % HE
5 5 B sk Je 5% 9% S 45 O i < il
LA TR ERES

A B B R ET SL AT A TR A 5 (44 2 3 Ah
BEAHK)  BEEEHAEEBETEEZ
0 L B o

PRI A 4 ) 2 4 b R E A 2 3 B
s R AR I K~ A SR B £ BB -
B <o L B B e MR R A SR B o T B AL
Je [l R B 4% D % 5 B <k S 1B SR M
iy [

% el B

7 55 ) JE A 4 i 3 ) R AL 2 e By B
SRS AR B 4l Bl SRR H DL B
ARG Z HM M AR -

A 4R T 2 4 BOSR TG B D JE A A
BZEBEBMAELBEEETE - AEH
BT B A R -

mHERREERAERLAA - —2—25858% 123



31 March 2010 = 2—Z2F=A=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in Hong Kong dollar interest
rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit before tax (through the impact on cash and cash
equivalents and floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s
equity. There is no impact on the Company’s equity.

2010 —EF %
Hong Kong dollar Wt

Hong Kong dollar S

2009 “EFIE
Hong Kong dollar Wt

Hong Kong dollar I

*  Excluding retained profits

Foreign currency risk

The Group has no significant foreign currency risk because
its business is principally conducted in Hong Kong and
most of the transactions are denominated in the Group’s
functional currency. Since the Hong Kong Dollar is pegged
with the United States Dollar, the Group’s exposures to
foreign currency risk in respect of the bank balances and
trade and bills payables denominated in United States
Dollars is considered to be minimal.
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A% e B (A7)

T AR L BB AT e A M A 4 ) R
a3 W U A R 2 A BHWT RE A B (B A 3L
PR M5 A 38 ) 2 R OB Bl & KBl
S FEIE H BE B AR EE) o IR
2 38 A 2 ] 2 i N B S o

Group
M
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity *
253 B BE 1 6t A Bl 2%+
BWm/ (WA)  Wm/ (WA)  Bm/ (84)
HK3$’000 HK$°000
BT oo BT
50 56 -
(50) (56) _
50 (158) -
(50) 158 —

& 7 A 35 AR B i

A B e, st

HT R B B 2 SR 1 R A AT ROR
SR G TIUAREE Z e g W EH >
b o A 4R ) S R T OK A RE R B o H R
W0 BL3E 0 #h 8 > R e > A A B A
3R I0 A fH Z SRAT & B M A B 5 MR Ak %
SR YR Z B M L I A A



37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise cash and cash equivalents, amounts due
from associates, other receivables and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments. The Company
is also exposed to credit risk through the granting of
financial guarantees, further details of which are disclosed
in note 32 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy customers, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
analysis by customer/counterparty. There are no significant
concentrations of credit risk within the Group as the
customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are widely
dispersed.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other
receivables are disclosed in notes 20 and 21, respectively,
to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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1 £ L B

ACHE B AR IAE BRI R P
1728 5 o R IRAC B M 2 BOSR > T Ak
FRMETRZMEF > SHEGERE
BRRERT o BAh > A5 M +F 4] B
We &5 B 2 A DL > T A B P 2 SRR L NI
AEK -

ALEHAFEBEXBESEMHEEH - Bk
Wt 2 2wk~ At B O IE K 32 A
{72 3% 18 4 A\ MR 2 4 il A 2 A B
B fF BB IR H OB A B R
B HE 5 % % TR Z IR A o A A W] B
B2 4 b o AR I AR 2 A B R R > HE—
AR B 5 o MR 32 v i o

F R A 4 8 B R W R B T SE I K
FOEAT R 5 » WA % AL T - R
EREEETHERIZES 5T
HEAT A B e Ay AT o B AR 2 B 5 e
Wl sk 2 % P R B A R OB M
P 3 B K B4R P LR

A4 [ P B RE W 5 R R S il HE Uk
YE 2 15 88 8 B 2 5 A0 38R 4 B B R T
R M EE20 /%21 -

R ) 2E 4 e B

A 4R T 75 30 R A O B B ) T
HoBEEEMRER - It THRE%E
Fo ik TH e S A (A B W B 5 R k)
RBII H Rk A AR SR BN B e i -

A SR B F1 B4 % 78 48 2R 28 B0 )
Z GRAT SRR » TR FE VT B 0Pk B O 1
4
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as

at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Group
£

Trade and bills payables WA B 5 W sk o S 4%
Other payables At JE A 5k T
Derivative financial instrument fikEmT i

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Company

At the end of the reporting period, the amounts due to
subsidiaries of HK$11,399,000 (2009: HK$32,102,000)
and guarantees given to banks in connection with
facilities granted to subsidiaries of HK$56,981,000 (2009:
HK$92,488,000) were repayable on demand.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the values of individual securities.
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
individual equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (note 22) as at 31 March
2010.

FOUR SEAS FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2010

JH AT A B Z SR AT Bk

37. S e g 4% B H B B R ()

L ) g 4 B ()

LB BT 4R B BLAR 3k > DA T RS A 4
A A I OR 2 S B R BN

Within 1 year

—4E W
2010 2009
SR-RE ZRBAF
HK$’000 HKS$°000
T o V. 2 TN
47,531 27,644
12,015 6,926
- 35
57,035 92,616
116,581 127,221

% A

R o ¥ OR 1 R R AT K A
T K 11,399,000% € (B ZE L4 ¢
32,102,000%5 7 ) & I 88 47 98 08 B & =)
Z 84715 £856,981,0008 7T ( B FEIAE ¢
92,488,000 JC) °

JBe 55 B4R L B

e S A% L B A i T s K S K A
i i 27 2 A A 5 Y T BORE A W 2R 4 O
AR Z kg - i R —FFE=ZH=1+—
s A58 R % R 805 % 1 A ) Jie AR
B 2 %A P IE B4R 25 AR I 4 B
B (PR 5E22) T 51 080 A A8 A% L B
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. W e 4% 1 H B B R ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Equity price risk (continued) JBe 5% f A b B (75)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every T 3R R S At A DR 45 R B 3 HOR FE
3% change in the fair values of the equity investments, HREEEN  EafERBREHERZ
with all other variables held constant and before any MR A - B HEZS R E A P E3%% B 2 B
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end T o

of the reporting period.

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in fair in profit (decrease)
value before tax in equity *
AFAE I B i Bl
Wm,” AR, Bm,
(W) (W) (W)
% HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
2010 —F %
Investments listed in Hong Kong His LA 3 470 -
A3) 470) -
2009 ZERFE
Investments listed in Hong Kong B L RE 3 479 —
(3) (479) -
e Excluding retained profits tJ S 555 AR B i A
Capital management A B
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management A AR 2 A B AR W R AR
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going B A R ) 4% R A R R 2 DR I R
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to A e R AR L R D) SR W Ok
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value. AL B R AE AE ©

DHNERREZERARAR - — T -—85% (27
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is required to comply with certain externally
imposed capital requirements set out in certain of its
banking facilities letters. As at 31 March 2010, there
was no indication of breach of covenants and the Group
complied with the externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2010 and 31 March 2009.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company. The gearing
ratio is regularly reviewed by senior management. The
gearing ratios as at the ends of the reporting periods were
as follows:

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Equity attributable to equity holders i J& i A< 2\ &) HE 25 i 5 %

of the Company ) B 2

BEEA R

Gearing ratio

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 16 July 2010.
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¥4 2 (A)

7K £ VA AL R AR O AR 2 B AL % A B AR
A5 W8 I i DA G R o T A R B B A &
R > ACHR T T R R OR 2 IR 1) JBEOR
A8 1] S A o B AT W M o A 4R AT A AL
A T BT BEK R R BT IR A T AN R i
MEARER - BT -FRE=ZHA=1+—
H oo Sf fE 08 R 5k 2 BF AR > i AR 5 A
AN N Z AR E o RBE T
FE=ZA=ZF—HEZZZALHE=EA
=t —HILFER EAEHZHRE -
B SR K it i Ol 40 ) B A o o

AGEE AR EA R B A
A5 7 28 B A B 2 BRAT B K R DA AR A
w BE 25 BT A A RE R T A b R - BUIR
A B A A B R I A A o R R
HEAR > AREARKRNT :

Group
# M

2010 2009
—%-%%E  CEBAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT o
56,981 92,488
481,231 448,680
12% 21%
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